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Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present on behalf of the board (“Board”) of
directors (“Directors”) of Sinoref Holdings Limited (“Sinoref” or
the “Group”) its annual report for the year ended 31 December
2010.

Since its commencement of operation in 2007, Sinoref has
become the second largest supplier of advanced steel flow
control products in China in four years of time. Its market share
in the advanced steel flow control products market is estimated
to have risen significantly to approximately 30% this year,
with clients including eight of the top ten steel manufacturers
in China, including Baosteel Group, Wuhan Steel Group and
Hebei Steel Group. On 7 July 2010, Sinoref was successfully
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited on and won wide support from institutional and retalil
investors. This milestone has not only enhanced the Group’s
financial capability and corporate governance standards, but
also reinforced its competitive edge and brand image in the
industry. These enable the Group to gain wider trust and praise
from more existing and potential customers.

Innovative technology, quality products and professional
services enabled Sinoref to achieve strong growth in product
sales and profit attributable to owners to new highs during
the year. For the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group’s
turnover rose remarkably by approximately 103.2% as
compared with 2009 to approximately RMB318.76 million while
gross profit grew by approximately 106.8% to approximately
RMB217.98 million. Its net profit increased by approximately
84.9% to approximately RMB129.56 million while earnings
per share also rose by approximately 50% to approximately
RMBO0.12.
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The Sinoref successfully acquired various important new clients
including Shougang Group and Shandong Taishan Steel Group
during the year. The number of the Group’s customers reached
22 as at 31 December. Riding on the solid foundation built
up in the China market, the Group actively strengthened its
sales and marketing team to explore overseas markets. The
Group entered into a memorandum of understanding with
Carboref GmbH, an established refractory products provider
based in Germany, in the first half of 2010 to sell and promote
the Group’s products in Europe. This arrangement was later
transformed to a licensed sales agreement on 19 February 2011
and marked the beginning of sales of the Group’s products in
Europe. At the same time, the Group continues to identify new
business partners to explore other overseas markets including
Korea, Taiwan and North America. The Group plans to expand
its overseas sales to about 20% of the Group’s total revenue in
2 to 5 years time.

The Group is benefited from the elimination of small and less
efficient steel manufacturers in the process of consolidation
of the steel industry and reduction of energy consumption
and omission under the 12th Five Year Plan. To grasp the
opportunity from the increasing demand for advanced steel
flow control products, Sinoref is building a new plant in its
headquarters in Yixing, Jiangsu Province to accommodate a
new production line imported from Germany. The new plant is
expected to be completed in the second half of 2011 and will
commence operation in the fourth quarter this year. By then,
the Group’s annual production capacity will increase to 16,800
tonnes from 8,200 tonnes, which will allow the Group to further
expand its market share in the advanced steel flow control
products market.
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Furthermore, in the 12th Five-Year Plan, the Group’s self-
developed material used by steel flow control products was
listed as one of the new materials for “strategic emerging
industries” which will enabled the Group to enjoy policy
concessions. In addition, various large-scale infrastructure
projects in China, including the construction of the “Four-
Vertical and Four-Horizontal” express passenger railway
network, the planning of Chengdu-Chongging Economic Zone
and the construction of an additional 10 million units of social
security housing, will enter or are in their peak stages this
year. As a result, the demand for steel, which is a fundamental
construction material, will increase and in turn stimulate the
demand for steel flow control products. The Group is confident
of the prospects of the industry in the coming future.

Sinoref is well positioned to grasp business opportunities ahead
and has formulated effective business development strategies.
Apart from increasing production capacity and expanding
customer base, the Group will also focus on improving product
mix to further enhance its gross profit margin. Going forward,
Sinoref will adhere to the belief of “Quality drives market growth”
and dedicate to becoming the largest manufacturer of advanced
steel flow control products in China to bring fruitful returns for
shareholders.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
appreciation to our dedicated staff, as well as our shareholders
and business partners for their support and trust. Let us all pull
together and scale another new high for the Group.

Xu Yejun
Chairman
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OVERVIEW

The Group was established in 2005 and commenced operation
in 2007. After spending years of effort in expanding its
presence, the Group has become a leading manufacturer of
advanced steel flow control products in China. The Group has
been renowned for its technological innovation, product quality
and operational efficiency in the industry. With the continued
effort to advance its service quality, the Group’s position in the
industry is widely recognized in the market. The successful
listing of the Group on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited in July 2010 is a milestone of the Group
and has received great support from investors. The listing
has not only strengthened the Group’s financial capability, but
also enhanced its corporate governance standard, as well as
widened its exposure in the international market. In this regard,
the Group has laid down a solid foundation to develop itself
into the largest manufacturer of advanced steel flow control
products in China and lead the industry to scale new heights in
the future.

MARKET REVIEW

According to the World Steel Association, the world’s
production of crude steel in 2010 reached a new high of 1,410
million tonnes, representing an increase of 15% as compared
with the previous year. Being the single largest country of
crude steel production, China produced more than 620 million
tonnes of crude steel in 2010, representing an increase of
approximately 10% over the previous year and accounting
for nearly half of the world’s total production. At the same
time, the export of steel products still achieved an increase
and steel consumption maintained a stable growth by virtue
of the rebound in global steel demand and the recovery of
Asian economy. In 2010, various large infrastructure projects in
China proceeded in full swing, including the construction of the
“Four-Vertical and Four-Horizontal” express passenger railway
network with an investment of RMB700 billion, the planning of
Chengdu-Chongging Economic Zone and the construction of
an additional 10 million units of social security housing. These
infrastructure projects will effectively drive the market demand
for steel, a fundamental construction material, and will in turn
boost the sales of steel flow control products. In 2009, the
market share of advanced steel flow control products reached
approximately 39% of the entire steel flow control product
market, and is expected to continuously increase.
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Since 2003, continuous casting has become the major
method of steel production and 90% of crude steel worldwide
is manufactured by this way. The CAGR of China’s steel
production by continuous casting reached approximately
17.16% from 2001 to 2010, a threefold of the CAGR on
global basis. As the advanced steel flow control products
manufactured by the Group are mainly used in continuous
casting and the Group’s sales have a positive relationship with
the production volume of the steel industry of China, the rapid
growth of the steel industry implies a promising development for
the Group in the future.

Merger and reorganization as well as optimization of
industry distribution remain the main theme of steel industry
development in the draft of the 12th Five-Year Plan, which call
for close down of blast furnaces under 400 cubic meters and
converter furnaces under 30 tonnes. In order to increase the
standard of energy-saving and emission-reducing, the energy
consumption per tonne of steel produced by large and medium
sized steel manufacturers is limited to within 580 kilograms of
standard coal. Manufacturers that fall short of such requirement
will be forced to close down and the other manufacturers
remain in the market are also required to upgrade their products
to high-end products. The consolidation of steel industry has
resulted in a growing market of high-end products, and also
stimulated the continuous growth of the consumption of high-
end steel flow control products. Such developments are not
only conducive to the rapid growth of the Group in the past few
years, but also in line with the Group’s development strategy in
targeting at the high-end market.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a leading manufacturer of steel flow control
products in China mainly engaged in the manufacture and sale
of advanced steel flow control products. Steel flow control
products are mainly used in the continuous casting process to
protect, control and regulate the flow of molten steel and are
essential products used in the continuous casting process of
steel production.

Since commencement of operation in 2007, our annual
capacity of production plant has increased from 6,400 tonnes
to 8,200 tonnes in 2009. Precision and quality of our products
are ensured by the advanced equipment from Germany and
customized manufacturing facilities and the Group soon
became the second largest producer of high-end steel flow
control products in China. The Group’s revenue in 2010 grew
by approximately 103.2% from 2009 to RMB318.8 million and
management estimates that the Group’s market share of the
high-end market in 2010 increased to approximately 30% from
6% in 2007.

Expanding overseas markets

Riding on the strong foundation in the China market, the Group
actively strengthened its sales and marketing team aiming to
vigorously expand the overseas markets. In the first half of
2010, the Group entered into a memorandum of understanding
with Carboref GmbH in Germany concerning the sale of
the Group’s products in Europe. In the second half of the
year, the Group began to expand its overseas business and
successfully secured two trial orders from Germany. The Group
has subsequently signed an authorized dealer agreement with
Carboref GmbH in February 2011.
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Expanding customer base

In 2010, the number of the Group’s customers in China reached
22, of which 8 are among the top-10 steel manufacturers in
China, including Baosteel Group, Hebei Steel Group, Wuhan
Steel Group and Shandong Steel Group. As a result of its high-
tech products and high quality services as well as its sound
reputation over the years, the Group is trusted by more and
more leading steel manufacturers. In October 2010, the Group
officially entered into a long-term cooperation relationship
with Shougang Group, one of the largest state-owned steel
enterprises in China. Besides, management has initiated talks
with other major steel manufacturers like Anshan Iron and Steel
Group to enhance the Group’s sustainable and stable growth.

Enhancing technology research and development

The Group has world-class technology and it has collaborated
with universities and research institutions so that its research
and development team can closely monitor the global
technology trend. As at 31 December 2010, the Group had 4
registered patents and 5 patents pending approval, and had
been granted ISO 9001 Quality Control System Accreditation by
Beijing BTIHEA Certification Co., Ltd. In the 12th Five-Year Plan,
the Group’s self-developed material used by steel flow control
products was listed as one of the new materials for “strategic
emerging industries” and enabled the Group to enjoy policy
concessions. Mainly attributable to its stay-ahead and self-
innovative research and development capability, the Group is
able to maintain a high benchmark and high gross profit margin
in the high-end market.
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Major products

The Group’s major products include ladle shrouds, stoppers,
tundish nozzles and subentry nozzles, which are all
consumables.

Ladle shrouds

The Group’s ladle shrouds can have various argon sealing
customized for different requirements and can be specially
designed to achieve full protection and enhance life-span.

Stoppers

The Group produces more than 30 patterns of stoppers in
various specifications to suit the needs of customers for
different tundish nozzles.

Tundish nozzles

The Group has developed 20 patterns of tundish nozzles for
customers’ needs and the hardness of these tundish nozzles
is capable to endure pressure from the bottom to be a linkage
between a stopper and a subentry nozzle or used for slab
casters which have tube changers.

Subentry nozzles

The Group produces various customized subentry nozzles and
has developed more than 50 patterns of subentry nozzles. It
focuses on the design and function of such product to ensure
the prevention of oxidation in the continuous casting process.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue increased to approximately RMB318.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2010, representing
an increase of approximately 103.2% as compared with
RMB156.9 million for the previous year. The increase was
mainly attributable to the growth in the overall sales volume
of our advanced steel flow control products by approximately
93.1% to approximately 7,600 tonnes as compared with the
approximately 4,000 tonnes in previous year. Such growth was
a combined effect of (i) our acquisition of 4 new customers in
the western and northern regions of the PRC and in Germany
in 2010 who purchased approximately 300 tonnes from
the Company during the reviewing period and contributed
approximately RMB16.3 million or 5.1% to the Group’s total
revenue in 2010 and (ii) the increase in sales to the Group’s
existing customers acquired in or before December 2009 by
approximately 97.3% from approximately 3,700 tonnes in 2009
to approximately 7,300 tonnes in 2010. As a result, the Group’s
revenue contributed from its existing customers acquired
in or before December 2009 has significantly increased to
approximately RMB302.5 million from approximately RMB156.9
million for the previous year.

Cost of sales

Our costs of sales increased by about 95.7% from
approximately RMB51.5 million for the previous year to
approximately RMB100.8 million for the reviewing period,
which was in line with the increase in the sales volume of our
advanced steel flow control products.
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Gross profit and gross profit margin

Our gross profit increased by approximately 106.8% from
approximately RMB105.4 million for the previous year to
approximately RMB218.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2010. Our gross profit margin also increased from
approximately 67.2% for the previous year to approximately
68.4%. The increase in our gross profit and gross profit margin
were mainly attributable to the economies of scale resulted
from the significant increases in our overall sales volume by
approximately 93.1% from approximately 4,000 tonnes for the
previous year to approximately 7,600 tonnes.

Selling and distribution costs

In the reviewing period, our selling and distribution costs
increased to RMB27.9 million, representing an increase of
approximately 113.0% from approximately RMB13.1 million
for the previous year. The increase was mainly attributable
to (i) the increase in commission paid to our salespersons by
approximately 122.5%, from approximately RMB10.2 million
for the previous year to approximately RMB22.7 million; and (ii)
the increase in transportation costs by approximately 140.0%
from approximately RMB1.5 million for the previous year to
approximately RMB3.6 million, as a result of increased delivery
costs of our products in relation to the increased sales volume.
As a percentage of revenue, our selling and distribution costs
remained stable at approximately 8.4% and 8.7% for the year
ended 31 December 2009 and 2010 respectively.
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Administrative expenses

Our administrative expenses increased by approximately
212.7% from approximately RMB6.3 million for the previous
year to approximately RMB19.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2010. The increase was primarily due to the
combined effect of (i) the increase in staff costs (other than
Directors’ remuneration) by about 25.6% from approximately
RMB2.5 million for the previous year to approximately RMB3.0
million, as the Group had recruited new staff to facilitate the
listing of shares of the Company and expansion of business;
and (i) the increase in travelling expenses and entertainment
expenses by approximately 200.0% from approximately RMB1.5
million for the previous year to approximately RMB4.5 million this
year, mainly attributable to the increased sales and marketing
activities; and (iii) the professional service fee of RMB2.9 million
incurred after the listing of shares; and (iv) an amortization of fair
value of share options of approximately RMB1.9 million in the
current year due to the grant of share options on 22 November
2010.

Profit for the year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s profit for the year
increased by approximately 85.6% to approximately RMB130.1
million from approximately RMB70.1 million for the previous
year. The Group’s net profit margin decreased slightly from
approximately 44.7% for the previous year to approximately
40.8%, which was mainly a result of the provision of the one-
off expenses of RMB12.0 million during the year in relation to
the listing of shares of the Company in July 2010. The Group’s
earnings per share increased significantly from RMBO0.08 for the
previous year to RMBO0.12, representing an increase of 50.0%.

Final dividends
The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of

HK$3.6 cents (equivalent to RMB3.1 cents) per share for the
year ended 31 December 2010 (2009: Nil).

Sinoref Holdings Limited » ZEZRAEMR A A

THRX

BE-_Z-—ZF+_A=+—HILFE "
SEMITEAZBAEFREANARE630
BT LA H212.7%FE 4 AR #1,9708
TeAYXEA  FBEREARUTZTE &
FIE : ()R EBERAFE ZHBIENE
ITHYEBARKRO ETEERERE
% BINK (EZMERIN BEFHE
BR &) A R#2,5008 7T LA #125.6% = 49
AR M3,0008 7T ¢ (i)iH & & & 5 8%
e BHERE RMEEFE A EFREL
AREE1508 1L M #1200.0% E X AR
4508 7T (i) LT EERBEBHAR
#2008 T s MivVVARZZE—ZF+— A
T BENERE  EAFAHEER
BEHATFEHAREIQET °

F AR

A LM EIE - SEMAGN B EFRB
M ARM7,0108 TT1B 1141856 %= 49 A
R#13,01087C - TEHREERHAFH
SEBROHR -_T—FTFLALWMIELA
R¥1,20087TH) —RIEF B E - Bt
SEEARNE B EFRL44.7%RBT
KE440.8% - SEERA N HEFFBR
AR®O0.08TAE EAE AR 12T
FHi8 450.0% °

RIS
ExgRANEE_Z-—TF+_A=

T— B LFEMNREEREERS.6/8 (18
ENAREBAD) (ZEThF - &) -




Capital structure, liquidity and financial resources

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group’s net
cash from operating activities was approximately RMB93.1
million (2009: RMB53.6 million) and the Group’s bank balances
and cash was approximately RMB315.6 million (2009: RMB65.5
million) as at 31 December 2010. Total equity of the Group as
at 31 December 2010 was approximately RMB470.0 million (31
December 2009: RMB153.6 million). The Group does not have
any outstanding bank loan as at 31 December 2010.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2010, the Group does not have any pledge
of assets.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had not provided any form
of guarantee for any company outside the Group. The Group
is not involved in any current material legal proceedings, nor
is our Group aware of any pending or potential material legal
proceedings involving the Group.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND STAFF
REMUNERATION

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had 190 staff members
employed in mainland China and Hong Kong. Total staff costs
for the year were approximately RMB4.0 million (2009: RMB2.5
million). In the year, the Group continued to reinforce the training
provided to its staff, provide opportunities of training and study
for management staff and professional technicians, and provide
timely update to all the staff with the latest Government policies
of the industry, to continuously enhance the professional
standard and comprehensive quality of the staff. Meanwhile,
the Group has provided competitive remuneration for the staff
which encourages them to commit themselves and serve our
customers whole-heartedly.
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PROSPECTS

The Group has a leading market position and is the second
largest company in terms of actual annual production and
sale of advanced steel flow control products in China. It
plans to further capitalize on its advantages for maintaining
the momentum of its future development. The following is a
summary of the Group’s future development strategies and
emphases:

Enhance capacity to satisfy future needs and further
expand market share

Sale of our products has continued to grow and our capacity
utilization rate is approaching full utilization. As China’s steel
market develops and consolidates, the management expects
that market potential of advanced steel flow control products is
huge.

The Group is now constructing a new plant at its headquarter
situated in Yixing, Jiangsu, to accommodate a new production
line to cope with the increase in sales orders and to capture
the huge potential in local and overseas markets. The new
line is expected to be completed in the second half of 2011
and commence operation in the third quarter of 2011 earliest.
By then, the Group’s annual capacity will increase from 8,200
tonnes to 16,800 tonnes.

Continue research and development to enhance and
develop steel flow control products

Apart from increasing sale of existing advanced steel flow
control products, another Group’s development strategy is to
advance product quality and diversify our products offerings.
The Group will continue to collaborate with universities and
research institutions to enhance the quality of our existing
products and develop more products.
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Explore mainland and overseas markets

The Group will continue to develop its business riding on
its established market position and other advantages. While
recruiting most sales talent to explore new customers and
business opportunities in China, the Group will continue to
expand overseas markets. The Group has expanded into
European markets after successfully entering into an authorized
distributor agreement with Carboref GmbH of Germany on 19
February 2011, and will continue to reinforce the existing sales
and marketing team to attract more potential customers in
China and overseas.

The Group is confident that its market competitiveness
will greatly be enhanced after the completion of the new
production line and our new products will bring in more market
development opportunities. The Group will continue its effort
to capitalize on its niche in the advanced steel flow control
products market in China so as to lead the industry growth as
well as to scale new heights for fruitful return for its investors.
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The board (“Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of Sinoref
Holdings Limited (“Company”) hereby presents this Corporate
Governance Report in the Group’s annual report for the year
ended 31 December 2010.

The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance and endeavours in following the code
provisions (“Code Provisions”) of the “Code on Corporate
Governance Practices” as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules
(“Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”). The
Board considers such commitment is essential for the growth of
the Group and for maximising the interest of the shareholders
(“Shareholders”) of the Company. The Company regularly
reviews its corporate governance practices to ensure that the
latest development in corporate governance can be followed
and observed.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Throughout the financial year under review, the Company had
complied with the Code Provisions, save for the deviations from
Code Provision A.2.1.

According to Code Provision A.2.1, the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.

Mr. Xu Yejun, in addition to his duties as the chairman of the
Company, is also responsible for the strategic planning and
overseeing all aspects of the Group’s operations as the chief
executive officer of the Company. This constitutes a deviation
from Code Provision A.2.1. Mr. Xu Yejun as one of the founders
of the Group has extensive experience and knowledge in the
core business of the Group and his duties for overseeing the
Group’s operations is clearly beneficial to the Group. The Board
considers that this structure will not impair the balance of power
and authority between the Board and the management of the
Group.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted on 7 June 2010 its securities dealing
code (“Code”) regarding the dealings of securities of the
Company by the Directors and senior management of the
Group, on terms no less exacting than the required standard
under the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

The Company, having made specific enquiry of all Directors
and senior management of the Group, all the Directors and
senior management of the Group have confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard as set out in the
Code and Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules regarding securities
transactions by Directors and senior management of the Group
throughout the financial year ended 31 December 2010.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is currently composed of three executive Directors
namely Mr. Xu Yejun as the chairman, Dr. Zhang Lanyin and
Mr. Gu Aoxing; one non-executive Director, Mr. Gao Zhilong;
and three independent non-executive Directors namely Mr. Yao
Enshu, Mr. Yang Fugiang and Mr. Tsui Siu Hang, Steve. The
biographical details of the Directors are set out under “Directors
and Senior Management” on pages 26 to 31 of this annual
report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2010.

In accordance with Article 105(A) of the articles of association
of the Company, Mr. Xu Yejun and Dr. Zhang Lanyin will retire
as Directors by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election as Directors at the annual general meeting of the
Company. Furthermore, pursuant to Article 109 of the articles
of association of the Company, Mr. Tsui Siu Hang, Steve, who
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 19
November 2010, shall retire at the annual general meeting of
the Company and, being eligible, offered himself for re-election.
Each independent non-executive Director is appointed for a
term of one year.
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The Board meets regularly to review and determine the
corporate strategies and overall strategic policies. Each of the
members of the Board has full access to relevant information
at the meetings. During the financial year ended 31 December
2010, the Board has convened 4 regular meetings at which,
among other things, the following activities were conducted at
such regular meetings:

(1) approved the interim results and interim report for the six
months ended 30 June 2010;

(2) approved the annual results and annual report for the
financial year ended 31 December 2010 and matters to be
considered at the annual general meeting of the Company;

(3) reviewed and approved corporate strategies of the Group
for the financial year ending 31 December 2011; and

(4) reviewed the performance and financial position of the
Group.
Apart from the regular board meetings, the Board met on other

occasions when a board-level decision on a particular matter
was required.

Sinoref Holdings Limited o ZE R AR A A

o
REE M ERRBEIERR - EEEEUKE
VBEEDRMEEZZHERERN -RBEE-F
—ZEF+_A=+—-BUYVRFE EF
eCEAMAREREE  TEXSERS
& LRIE (B EE) ATER

(4)

EHAREH Wi RblERE

BEBE_ZT-—ZTFRA=1THIL
NE A Z AR AR B AR

HERBZE_T-—FTFE+_A=+—
Etﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁ&ZiE%%ﬁ&i#ﬁM
ERARBBRRBFRE LEHZ
FH

EH LM ERAEEREBE T ——
FH+-A=+—RUEMBRFEZL
XX R

W AR E 2 KB R BERR -

BREFETHERIN  EFENEAYE
EEEFHEFERENAFEH




Details of the Directors’ attendance records at the board
meetings during the financial year ended 31 December 2010
are as follows:

Attendance
Executive Directors
Mr. Xu Yejun (Chairman) 4/4
Dr. Zhang Lanyin 4/4
Mr. Gu Aoxing 4/4
Non-executive Director
Mr. Gao Zhilong 4/4
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Yao Enshu 4/4
Mr. Yang Fugiang 4/4
Mr. Tsui Siu Hang, Steve 2/2

(appointed on 19 November 2010)

Mr. Cheng Yun Ming Matthew 2/2

(resigned on 19 November 2010)

Whilst the Board as a whole is to determine the corporate
strategies and overall strategy policies, the executive Directors
and senior management of the Company, as delegated by
the Board, are responsible for implementing the determined
strategies and policies and the day-to-day management of the
Group’s business.

Save as disclosed under “Directors and Senior Management” of
this annual report of the Company, there is no other relationship
(whether financial, business, family or other material/relevant

relationships) among the members of the Board.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a written confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent.
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NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Board has not set up a nomination committee. The
nomination of new Directors has been delegated to the
Chairman and other executive Directors. Their work includes
reviewing regularly the need to appoint additional Directors
and formulating the policy for nominating suitable candidates
as additional Directors, such as candidates with appropriate
professional knowledge and industry experiences. The Board
will then consider the appointment of the candidates nominated
by them as directors of the Company. The chairman of the
Company and other executive Directors have held a meeting
for the purpose of appointing Mr. Tsui Siu Hang, Steve as the
independent non-executive Director during the year under
review.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (“Remuneration
Committee”) currently comprised four members, three
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Yao Enshu (chairman),
Mr. Yang Fugiang and Mr. Tsui Siu Hang, Steve, and one
executive Director, Mr. Xu Yejun. The Remuneration Committee
was established by the Board on 7 June 2010 and its duties are
clearly defined in its written terms of reference which have been
prepared and adopted according to the Code Provisions.

The Remuneration Committee meets annually to review the
remuneration policies and packages for Directors and senior
management of the Company and to make recommendations
to the Board on such remuneration policies and packages. No
Director takes part in any discussions and decisions about his
own remuneration.
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Details of attendance of each member of the Remuneration

Committee during the financial year ended 31 December 2010
are as follows:

Attendance
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Yao Enshu 2/2
Mr. Yang Fugiang 2/2
Mr. Tsui Siu Hang, Steve 1/1
(appointed on 19 November 2010)
Mr. Cheng Yun Ming Matthew 1/1

(resigned on 19 November 2010)

There was no disagreement between the Board’s and the Audit
Committee’s view on the selection, appointment of the external
auditor.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2010, the
Remuneration Committee had covened one meeting with
full attendance by its members and conducted the following
activities:

(1) reviewed and approved the remuneration packages of the
Directors and senior management of the Company;

(2) reviewed the terms of the service contracts of all the
executive Directors by reference to their perofmance.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”)
currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Tsui Siu Hang, Steve (chairman), Mr. Yao Enshu and
Mr. Yang Fugiang. The Audit Committee was established by
the Board on 7 June 2010 and its duties are clearly defined in
its written terms of reference which have been prepared and
adopted according to the Code Provisions.
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The Audit Committee provides an important link between the
Board and the Company’s auditors in matters coming within
the scope of the Group’s audit. It also reviews the annual and
interim reports of the Company prior to their approval by the
Board, the effectiveness of the external and internal audit and of
internal controls and risk evaluation.

During the financial year under review, the Audit Committee has
convened 2 meetings and conducted the following activities:

(1) reviewed the annual and interim reports of the Company;

(2) reviewed the report of internal audit department, internal
controls system and financial matters of the Group in
pursuance of the written terms of reference;

(3) reviewed the audit plans and findings of the external
auditor of the Company; and

(4) made recommendation to the Board on the appointment
of the external auditor.

Details of attendance of each member of the Audit Committee
during the financial year ended 31 December 2010 are as
follows:

Attendance
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Yao Enshu 2/2
Mr. Yang Fugiang 2/2
Mr. Tsui Siu Hang, Steve 1/1
(appointed on 19 November 2010)
Mr. Cheng Yun Ming Matthew 1/1

(resigned on 19 November 2010)

There was no disagreement between the Board’s and the Audit
Committee’s view on the selection, appointment of the external
auditor.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the financial year ended 31 December 2011, the nature
of the audit and non-audit services provided by Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, the auditors of the Company, and the relevant fees
paid/payable by the Company for such services are as follows:

Services rendered Fee paid/payable

HK$
Annual audit 900,000
Interim review 800,000

RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements for each financial period which gives a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group. In preparing the
financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December
2010, the Directors have selected appropriate accounting
policies and applied them consistently, and have prepared the
financial statements on a historical cost basis.

The statement of the external auditor about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements are set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on page 51 of this annual report
of the Company.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound and effective
system of internal control. During the financial year under
review, the Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the internal
control system of the Group through the Audit Committee.
There was no significant incidence of failure in connection with
the financial, operational and compliance control during the
financial year ended 31 December 2010.

The Board has considered the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training
programmes and budget.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Xu Yejun, aged 46, the co-founder of our Group, is the
chairman, chief executive officer and our executive Director.
Mr. Xu was appointed as our executive Director on 4 February
2010. He is responsible for the overall strategic planning and
management of our Group. Mr. Xu has extensive experience
in the advanced steel flow control products industry, and has
been engaging in such business for over 25 years. Mr. Xu is the
son-in-law of the brother of Mr. Gu Aoxing (E&8#{7T), one of our
executive Directors.

Mr. Xu studied in & # 8 K& F Z(Yixing Dapu Secondary
School*) from 1979 to 1981. Mr. Xu had been trained in &5t
N EAFZERT (Luoyang Institute of Refractories Research®) from
1984 to 1986. He had worked in B S &4 i A EER (Yixing
Magnena Refractory Materials Factory*) from 1981 to 1983
and from 1987 to 1989, in Yixing Wellfire Nonmetal Materials
Co., Ltd. ERFBEIFCEMHARAF from 1990 to 1995
and in BEARNEZAFRAF (Yixing Zhongeun Kiln Products
Co., Ltd.*) from 1996 till the establishment of Sinoref (Yixing) in
2005.

For his research item WHEEZERZERIEEELD W AN
BL# E G T2 (The research and manufacture of new high
quality refractory accessory materials in glass melting furnace
regenerative chamber series*), Mr. Xu was awarded A BJ#E T
BTS2 (China Light Industry Technological Advancement
Award*) by FEET#4€ (China Light Industry Association®)
in 1991, /& & 8 K 17 # 25 88 (Science and Technology
Progress Awards of Shanghai) by /&M RIEBE T F TR S
B& (Science and Technology Progress Awards Jury, Shanghai
Municipality) in 1995 and M RHEK RFEMEEZ (Certificate
for Accomplisher of Technological Advancement in Shanghai*)
by EEMRIERiIZ 8 € (Science and Technology Commission
of Shanghai Municipality) in 1996. Mr. Xu was also awarded £
TR E T 5 42 (Science and Technology Progress Awards
of Shanghai) by EEMRIZ#TE S EFEZEE (Science
and Technology Progress Awards Jury, Shanghai Municipality)
in 1996 in respect of BEFEMNERETRFEBRIEEEmM
& (The research and manufacture of high quality specific
regenerative chambers checkers series accessory products®).
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Mr. Xu, jointly with Dr. Zhang, also invented the SERIEE AT
KA (Subentry Nozzle for thin slab casting process) under the
CSP Project which was registered as a patent (in respect of
utility) in the PRC in January 2010. In addition, Mr. Xu, jointly
with Dr. Zhang and Mr. Wang Zhizhong, our senior management
staff, invented the BRI A R 52 Hy 2 82 ={ ZE % (Mono block
Stopper with controlled gas flow) which was registered as a
patent (in respect of utility) in the PRC in May 2010.

Dr. Zhang Lanyin, aged 48, the co-founder of our Group
and our chief technical officer, was appointed as our executive
Director on 8 March 2010. Dr. Zhang is responsible for the
production and research and development aspects of our
Group.

Dr. Zhang obtained a bachelor’s degree in Science (majoring in
refractory materials) from E\Z#{# 2t (Wuhan Institute of Steel
and Iron Technology*), the former Wuhan University of Science
and Technology, in 1982 and a master’'s degree in Science
from J&B5 T A M B FEET (Luoyang Institute of Refractories
Research*) in 1985. He obtained a degree of Doctor of
Philosophy by the department of Materials and Metallurgical
Engineering of Queen’s University at Kingston, Canada in 1996.

Dr. Zhang has been engaging in the advanced steel flow control
products business for over 25 years. Dr. Zhang worked in /&[5
it X AT EHIFZERE (Luoyang Institute of Refractories Research®)
from 1986 to 1990. He joined Vesuvius International Inc. in 1994
and worked in the Vesuvius group for eight years until he left as
the Deputy General Manager of Vesuvius Advanced Ceramics
(Suzhou) Co. Ltd. in 2002. He then joined Minteq International
(Suzhou) Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of Minerals Technologies Inc.,
an international refractory company, as the Vice President Asia
in 2002 and worked there for four years until 2006.
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During the past years, Dr. Zhang had issued various
publications. For instance, he published a paper titled “High
toughness silicon carbide/graphite laminar composite by slip
casting” in 1995. Further, based on the records of the United
States Patent and Trademark Office, Dr. Zhang, jointly with
others, were the inventors of the “high toughness carbide
ceramics by slip casting and method thereof” which was
registered as a patent in the United States in 1995. He, jointly
with Mr. Xu, also invented the SR )2 ALK O (Subentry
Nozzle for thin slab casting process) under the CSP Project
which was registered as a patent (in respect of utility) in the
PRC in January 2010. In addition, Dr. Zhang, jointly with Mr. Xu
and Mr. Wang Zhizhong, our senior management staff, invented
the ATEEHIREAREEREENERE (Mono block Stopper with
controlled gas flow) which was registered as a patent (in respect
of utility) in the PRC in May 2010.

Mr. Gu Aoxing, aged 59, was appointed as our executive
Director on 7 June 2010. Mr. Gu is responsible for the corporate
and financial matters of our Group. Mr. Gu Aoxing is the brother
of Mr. Xu’s father-in-law.

Mr. Gu completed a professional technical training in relation
to Rural Finance organised by HFEMAERMTEZEE (Yixing
Technology Committee*) and E & M 8 B B (Yixing Finance
Bureau®) in 1989. In 2000, Mr. Gu passed the examination on
ST EE M MHBZLE (Basic Knowledge on Computerised
Accounting*) organised by B # W B It B (Yixing Finance
Bureau*). In 2001, Mr. Gu was qualified as an accountant by #&
5™ AEB (Wuxi Municipal Personnel Bureau®).

Prior to joining our Group in 2007, Mr. Gu had held financial
managerial positions in various companies, including acting as
the Assistant Finance Manager at E S5 E (Yixing Xinwei
Group*) from 1991 to 1999 and the Finance Manager at & ®ir
22 AR A F)(Yixing Zhongeun Kiln Products Co., Ltd.*) from
2000 to 2007. Mr. Gu was also an executive director of China
Rare Earth Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 769), a company
listed on the Main Board, from 25 August 1999 to 19 May
2000.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Gao Zhilong, aged 34, was appointed as our non-
Gao obtained a
bachelor’s degree in mechanical design and manufacture from
R ¥ K2 (Nanjing Agricultural University) in 1999. He then
worked as an assistant engineer in EMEIBRELEFRE R
Al (Changzhou Changjiang Coach Group Company Limited*).

executive Director on 7 June 2010. Mr.

Mr. Gao has worked in the quality control department in /(&
M5 TEAR) (Hua Wei Na Jingmi Gongju Company*) since
December 2005. Mr. Gao is interested in approximately 25% of
the share capital of Sinoref International.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yao Enshu, aged 78, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 7 June 2010. He was appointed
as A T¥ %I FEF K (Deputy Head of the Personnel
Department in the Ministry of Metallurgical Industry*) in the
PRC in 1983 and was appointed as /A& T ¥ I AZT T E
(Head of the Human Resources Department in the Ministry
of Metallurgical Industry*) in 1988. He was recognised as a
senior economist by J8& T2l (The Ministry of Metallurgical
Industry®) in the PRC in 1992.

Mr. Yang Fuqiang, aged 66, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 7 June 2010. He
engaged in research and development work of nonferrous
metals metallurgy, and was awarded the = % B R %% FH 4%
(Third State Invention Prize*) in 1987. He was appointed as the
deputy head and head of TE#4R4& —a#LE (Department of
Nonferrous Metals, Consolidated Industry Bureau*) in 1998 and
in 1990 respectively. Mr. Yang retired in December 1998.
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Mr. Tsui Siu Hang, Steve, aged 37, was appointed as
our independent non-executive Director of the Company
since 19 November 2010. Graduated from The University of
Auckland, New Zealand with a bachelor’s degree in Commerce
(Accounting) in 1995, Mr. Tsui is a Certified Public Accountant
in Hong Kong and a Chartered Accountant in New Zealand. He
has also obtained the qualification of Financial Risk Manager
from the Global Association of Risk Professional. Mr. Tsui
worked for Pricewaterhouse Coopers as an audit manager
from 1992 to 1997. From 2001 till now, he works as auditor
in various companies. Mr. Tsui has more than 15 years of
experience in the auditing field.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tam Chi Ming George HKCPA, ACIS, ACS, aged
35, is the chief financial officer and company secretary of
our Company. He joined our Group in January 2010 and is
responsible for managing the corporate finance department
of our Group, including overseeing financial management,
compliance and reporting obligations of our Group. Mr. Tam has
over 10 years’ experience in auditing, financial management and
corporate finance. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Tam worked
for KPMG Corporate Finance Limited as Senior Manager,
responsible for executing merger and acquisition transactions.
Mr. Tam is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and an associate member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. Mr. Tam holds
a bachelor’'s degree in Accountancy from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University and a master’s degree in Business
Administration from the University of London.

Mr. Wang Zhizhong, aged 43, is the deputy general manager
and the head of our Production Department. Mr. Wang joined
our Group in 2005. Mr. Wang was qualified as an assistant
engineer by #E5TH AZER (Wuxi Municipal Personnel Bureau®)
in 1995. He obtained E&EMEHKRTKEZEE (Certificate
for Accomplisher of Technological Achievement in Shanghai*)
for each of the project named “1E& &5 E 1A 5 E 22 DGR

(Development of hollow composite fusion cast blocks*) and “ X
R HEE FHNAEBAFAMRAME REMNFR" (Research on
novel refractories for super structure of glass furnace*) from £
ETHRIEZRMZEZEE (Science and Technology Commission of
Shanghai Municipality) in 2000.
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Mr. Wang worked in the production technology department in
various companies including Yixing Wellfire Nonmetal Materials
Co., Lid. HEBREFSBM AR AR and BEANEE
AR AT (Yixing Zhongcun Kiln Products Co., Ltd.*), before
joining our Group in 2005. In addition, Mr. Wang, jointly with
Mr. Xu and Dr. Zhang, invented the BJ#E#iAREEREEN
FE# (Mono block Stopper with controlled gas flow) which was
registered as a patent (in respect of utility) in the PRC in May
2010.

Mr. Jiang Panyuan, aged 47, joined us in 2007 as head of
our Purchasing Department. Mr. Jiang is mainly responsible
for our procurement and environmental protection matters. Mr.
Jiang graduated from L& & EHEEIRE4 (Jiangsu Radio and
TV Institute*) in 2001 and worked as the officer in a community
association in Yixing Yang’an (B # ¥ FRZ%E B ) from 1989
to 2007 prior to joining our Group.

Mr. Tang Jishan, aged 37, joined us in 2007 as head of
our Research and Development Department. He obtained his
bachelor’s and master’s degree in Metallurgy of Iron and Steel in
2001, both from Wuhan University of Science and Technology.
He has experience in the field of metallurgical industry. He
worked in the sales department in Vesuvius Advanced Ceramics
(Suzhou) Co. Ltd..

Mr. Dai Donglin, aged 41, joined us in 2007 as executive
regional sales manager. He obtained a bachelor’s degree in
Arts from Henan University in 1992. He then joined Vesuvius
Advanced Ceramics (Suzhou) Co. Ltd. from 1995 to 2004.
Mr. Dai furthered his studies on Civil and Commercial Law
between 1998 and 2000 in Jilin University. He has many years
of experiences in sales management.

For the purpose of this section, “*” denotes unofficial English translation.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report and audited
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is primarily engaged in the manufacturing of
advanced steel flow control products used in the continuous
casting steel making process to protect, control and regulate
the flow of molten steel.

The Group’s turnover is mainly derived from business activities
in Mainland China. An analysis of the Group’s income for the
year is set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

Particulars of the Company’s major subsidiaries as at 31
December 2010 are set out in note 33 to the financial
statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010
are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 53 of
this report.

The state of the Group’s and the Company’s affairs at 31
December 2010 is set out in the consolidated statement of
financial position and statement of financial position on pages
54 and 118 of this report.

The Directors recommended a final dividend of 3.6 HK cents
per share for the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009: HK$NIil).

FOUR YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The result, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
four financial years, as extracted from the audited financial
statements, are summarized on page 120 of this report.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of properties of the Group as at 31 December 2010 are
set out in note 17 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital are set out in note 26
to the financial statements.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the
latest practicable date prior to the issue of the annual report,
there was a sufficiency of public float the Company’s securities
as required under the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2010, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, redeemed or sold any
of the Company’s listed securities.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of sales and purchases for the year attributable
to the Group’s major customers and suppliers are as follows:

Percentage

of the total
purchases/sales
accounted for

Purchases
— the largest supplier 20.9%
— five largest suppliers combined 57.8%
Sales
— the largest customer 11.2%
— five largest customers combined 38.1%

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital) had an interest in the five
largest suppliers or customers of the Group noted above.

At no time during the year, none of the Directors, their
associates or shareholders (which to the knowledge of the
Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) has any interest in the customers or suppliers disclosed
above.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Xu Yejun (Chairman and chief executive officer)
Dr. Zhang Lanyin
Mr. Gu Aoxing

Non-executive Director

Mr. Gao Zhilong

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yao Enshu
Mr. Yang Fugiang
Mr. Tsui Siu Hang, Steve
(appointed on 19th November 2010)
Mr. Cheng Yun Ming Matthew
(resigned on 19th November 2010)

DIRECTORS’ PROFILES

Directors’ profiles are set out on pages 26 to 31 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of our executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with our Company pursuant to which they agreed to
act as executive Directors for an initial term of three years with
effect from 7 June 2010. The term of service shall be renewed
and extended automatically by one year on the expiry of such
initial term and on the expiry of every successive period of
one year thereafter, unless either party has given at least three
months’ written notice of non-renewal before the expiry of the
then existing term.
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Each of our non-executive Director and our independent non-
executive Directors (except for Mr. Tsui Siu Hang, Steve) has
been appointed for an initial term of one year commencing from
7 June 2010 renewable automatically for successive term of
one year each commencing from the next day after the expiry
of then current term of appointment, unless terminated by either
our non-executive Director or our independent non-executive
Director, as applicable, or our Company giving not less than
three months’ notice in writing expiring at the end of the initial
term or at any time thereafter. Mr. Tsui Siu Hang, Steve, an
independent non-executive Director appointed on 21 November
2010, has been appointed for an initial term of one year
commencing from 21 November 2010 renewable automatically
for successive term of one year each commencing from the next
day after the expiry of then current term of appointment, unless
terminated by either Mr. Tsui Siu Hang, Steve himself or our
Company giving not less than three months’ notice in writing
expiring at the end of the initial term or at any time thereafter.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than normal statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Apart from the particulars disclosed in note 31 under
the heading “Related Party Transactions” to the financial
statements, there were no other contracts of significance in
relation to the Company’s business, to which the Company or
any of the Company’s subsidiaries was a party nor there were
any other contracts of significance in relation to the Company’s
business between the Company or any of the Company’s
subsidiaries subsisting at the end of the year or at any time
during the year in which a Director had, whether directly or
indirectly, a material interest.

No contract of significance had been entered into between
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling
shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries.
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No contract of significance for the provision of services to
the Company or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling
shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
entered into.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2010, the interests or short positions of
the Directors or chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQO”)), as recorded in the
register of the Company required to be kept under section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Companies (“Model Code”), are set out below:

Long and short positions in the Shares and underlying
Shares

B R] AR B Sk AL A B A R 2 R AR
BCRAA R B S B AT B 2 R RS
ZEREH -

EFRRzER

R-E—ZF+-_F=+—H " AQRF=E
FRITEBEN AR B 5 & A AR R

B (ExRBZARBAEEMN ((FH KBS
BB11) BXVER) < ktn - HERSD RE
FHAEE AN ARRIBEES RABGANE
3521 BTF B 2 e ATtk - skiRIE
BEREEEPIEXVE R ETM AR ESE
TEARSHEESFA ([FREFH]) A
MEARNBI MMz RABIAT ¢

REOREBERDZFARKR

Interest in
underlying shares
of share option

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

Number of

Name of Director Nature of interest securities held
(Note 1)

MR EaMHE FisAES8HE
(Ktat1)

Mr. Xu Yejun Beneficial owner 360,000,000 Shares (L)
RERLE ERBEEA 360,000,000% /%15 (L)
Interest of sponse 500,000 Shares (L)

iR 500,000 A&7 (L)

Mr. Gao Zhilong Beneficial owner 171,000,000 Shares (L)
Sk e EmfaA 171,000,000/ i 15 (L)
Dr. Zhang Lanyin  Beneficial owner 90,000,000 Shares (L)
REMIRIEL EmBEAA 90,000,000/ f& 15 (L)
Mr. Gu Aoxing Beneficial owner 36,000,000 Shares (L)
BEFIT A EmEEA 36,000,000 %7 (L)

(Note 1) (%)

{12 8L ¥ B 4

HRERES BOL

(Ktat1) (%)

3,000,000 (L) (Note 2) 30.25
3,000,000 (L) (Afat2)

500,000 (L) (Note 4) 0.042
500,000 (L) (K4tat4)

- 14.25

5,000,000 (L) (Note 3) 7.92
5,000,000 (L) (#41z#3)

5,000,000 (L) (Note 3) 3.42
5,000,000 (L) (A7#£3)
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Notes:

1.

The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in our Shares.

On 22 November 2010, Mr. Xu Yejun was granted 3,000,000
options under the share option scheme of the Company to
subscribe for 3,000,000 Shares, exercisable at a price of
HK$1.408 per share in three tranches in the proportion of 30%,
60% and 100% on 22 November 2011, 22 November 2012 and
22 November 2013 respectively. The options have a term of ten
years commencing from 22 November 2010.

On 22 November 2010, each of Mr. Gu Aoxing and Dr. Zhang
Lanyin was granted 5,000,000 options under the share option
scheme of the Company to subscribe for 5,000,000 Shares,
exercisable at a price of HK$1.408 per share in three tranches in
the proportion of 30%, 60% and 100% on 22 November 2011, 22
November 2012 and 22 November 2013 respectively. The options
have a term of ten years commencing from 22 November 2010.

These options were held by Ms. Gu Shuping, the wife of Mr. Xu
Yejun.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2010, none of the

Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interest
or short positions of the in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation

(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the
register of the Company required to be kept under section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the

Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or pursuant to
the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2010, so far as was known to the Directors
of the Company, the following persons, other than the Directors
and chief executive of the Company, had an interest or short
position in the shares and underlying shares of the Company,
which were required to be recorded in the register maintained

FERRZER

R-ZE—TF+-_A=+—8  BHEARQF
BEMM UTALT (RRBEFRITH
RERRIN) RAR B B S A2 B D o 7k
BARBESLREFEAIFEIB6HELR
ARRFENECM 2 ERIRBMT -

by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as

follows:

Long and short positions in the Shares and underlying

Shares

Name of
Shareholder

B &

Ms. Gu Shuping
(Note 2)
BORSSE 22+ (f1722)

Ms. Chai Xiaoyuan
(Note 3)

SexEa+ (Mi3)

Mr. Chai Xishu

e Fm &

Ms. Wang Suying
(Note 4)

FEERLZL (Mit4)

Ms. Zhao Yijun (Note 5)

WRE LT (HiE5)

Mr. Cheah Cheng
Hye

AEERE

Ms. To Hau Yin (Note 7)

MIB &+ (K157)

Hang Seng Bank
Trustee International
Limited

Nature of interest

HanH

Interest of spouse

B
Beneficial owner
EREBA
Interest of spouse

kY o

Beneficial owner
EnlEEA
Interest of spouse
[ e

Interest of spouse

FoBEss

Founder of a

discretionary trust

BBEFEZEIHA

Interest of spouse
B

Trustee

HFEA

Interest in

Number of underlying shares

securities held

of share option

REROREERD 2HFRERAXR

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

(Note 1) (Note 1) (%)
B Bl R g
Fri5ES8HHE HREnES B
(Hat1) (Hfe1) (%)
360,000,000 Shares (L) 3,000,000 (L) 30.25
360,000,000% 3% 1% (L) 3,000,000 (L)
500,000 (L) 0.042
500,000 (L
171,000,000 Shares (L) - 14.25
171,000,0008% f& 5 (L) -
108,000,000 Shares (L) - 9.00
108,000,000/ f& {5 (L) -
108,000,000 Shares (L) - 9.00
108,000,000/% i {5 (L) -
90,000,000 Shares (L) 5,000,000 (L) 7.92
90,000,0008% 8% %5 (L) 5,000,000 (L)
60,736,000 Shares (L) - 5.06
(Note 6)
60,736,000 %1% (L)
(KizF6)
60,736,000 Shares (L) - 5.06
60,736,000 B15 (L)
- 5.06

(
60,736,000 Shares (L)
60,736,000/ %5 (L)
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Notes: Biat -

1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in our Shares. 1.
2. Ms. Gu Shuping is the wife of Mr. Xu Yejun. 2.
3. Ms. Chai Xiaoyuan is the wife of Mr. Gao Zhilong. 3.
4. Ms. Wang Suying is the wife of Mr. Chai Xishu. 4.
5. Ms. Zhao Yijun is the wife of Dr. Zhang Lanyin. 5.
6. These Shares were held by Value Partners Limited. Value Partners 6.

Limited is wholly owned by Value Partners Group Limited, of which
28.69% of shares were owned to Cheah Capital Management
Limited. Cheah Capital Management Limited is wholly owned by
Cheah Company Limited. The entire issued share capital of Cheah
Company Limited is held by Hang Seng Bank Trustee International
Limited as discretionary trustee for Mr. Cheah Cheng Hye’s family.

7. Ms. To Hau Yin is the wife of Mr. Cheah Cheng Hye. 7.

[LIRKRZALTRARABRM 2R -
BRE LT RIGEBRENET -
HRBELTRREREENET -
IERZLREFHTENET -
HREXLR/RERELNETF -

% % % 1) mValue Partners Limited$#
A ° Value Partners limitedfdValue
Partners Group LimitedZ2 & # & © M
Value Partners Group Limitedf728.69%
[i% 3 F1Cheah Capital Management Limited
#74& ° Cheah Capital Management Limited
HiCheah Company LimitedZ&# A °
Cheah Company Limitedz & 3§ & %
77 B% 7K fiHang Seng Bank Trustee
International Limited/E BB B ELEER
BrREZFEAMEES -

HITBRZ T RHFBEEZETF -

Save as disclosed above, the Directors and the chief executive b FXPTIREEIN AR BEERITH
of the Company are not aware that there is any party who, as WHEHH R ZE—TFE+_A=+—
at 31 December 2010, had interests or short positions in the B WEEAATERNR BN REEK
shares and underlying shares of the Company, which would DA BREE S M EEF EXVILE
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions OR3D IR G AN D B E RS EA
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or be directly or & - Sk EZEHMEHEE IAEBR T
indirectly interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any KRR BRI R R ZERBE H R HE GO
class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances FEIBRTFENELMATRENEERE
of general meetings of the Company or substantial shareholders MIRE R FREZ T AERIRARNEE
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company 5%k A 2 #Ews o

pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”), which was adopted on 27 June 2010 (the
“Adoption Date”), for the purpose of providing incentives or
rewards to selected eligible participants for their contribution
to the Group. Unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the
Share Option Scheme will remain in force for ten years from the
Adoption Date.

Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include the
following:

(i) any employee (whether full time or part time) of the
Group or any entity (the “Invested Entity”) in which any
member of the Group holds any shareholding (including
any executive director but excluding any non-executive
director of the Group or any Invested Entity);

(i) any non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(i) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

(iv) any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(v) any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to the Group or any
Invested Entity;

(v any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(vii) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any
area of business or business development of the Group or
any Invested Entity; and

Ris B #E T &Y

AATRIERA—HERERT S (R
B ZFER=—T—TF X A=1++H
((HWERM]) R BMRAKTES
BERSEERHBHIEH  URBES
BAKEFELZER - FRIFRTAURRE
7] BRIBEESSHRMASME—&
B RETE -

BREASCAERSEEZEBREUTA
=+

() AEEIXAEEETARERFFE
BEsEMNER ((HRERE])
ZEMEER (TwEBIFE) (B
BAKESERPIRE B BNER
HTEFETBREEMAIEATE
%)

(i) ARBREMKKEERZEMRFE
WITES (BRBEUIFNTES)

(i)  MANEE K EREIREE SR
BB RRIRMEE Mok R 2 M
JE™

(v) AEBEREMRKREERZEAE
B

V) RAREBERERMRREEBRRMH
7% P S E MR AR 2 A
TRER:

(vi) ANEBEEMRKERBHEMRIKE
ERZEMRRAAKEEMFKE
RAREMRREERAEITEM
EHFZFAAN

(i) BMAEBREMKKREERNER
HEBEHRZTMBHBRHEERZ
TR (BXAEMIE) HKT
A K
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(vii) any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliances or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of
Shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is
60,000,000, representing 5% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this annual report. The maximum
number of Shares issuable upon exercise of the options which
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Group (including both exercised and
outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company
for the time being. Any further grant of share options in excess
of this limit is subject to Shareholders’ approval in a general
meeting.

Share options granted to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
respective associates (as defined under the Listing Rules),
are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-
executive Directors (excluding independent non-executive
Director who is the grantee of the options). In addition, where
any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director, or to any of their respective
associates, would result in the Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such
person in excess of 0.1% of the Shares in issue and with an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Shares at
the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, in a 12-month
period up to and including the date of grant, such grant of
share options are subject to Shareholders’ approval in a general
meeting.

Sinoref Holdings Limited » ZEZRAEMR A A

EHBBEKEME

(viii) FBEEIELE -
B HAEBENERRIERE
LB B gEVE L B B 2 4R B
SfER 22 EE o

RAFIRBE - RIRE AR 8 AT (31T
2 B% {7 #8 2k /560,000,0008% © #HF R &
RARAFRAIZ O BITRAES% - B
F12@ AR - BLLEERTER
VR AR A AT B Jo AN SR B fr] EL At B AR AR AT
B FE LR BRE (REEITERMARTT
FRRERRHE) MAlERIT 2 HBRERRE
B THEARARIERZEBITRAZ
1% o i — R E B HZ LR ZBR
B BRI ERERRE RS FiE -

AARRESE  TRAHIEBEBRERNKRA
WEEEZHEA (EREL LEMMRA) &
HEERE  AEAEBYIFNATES (8
O RBREARAZBIFNITES)
BUAE © BESN - B R E RRCRSEELIEH
TEFIREFZTECHEARDERE
BEHMEM12(8 A BREAR - BREALE
TEMECERRBERZBRE (B
BATE » FEHERERITEZBRE) ME
BITRGERITZERN - BHEETRD
M0.1% » B48E (IREBEH B HZ B i
mEFHE) BiHsa g BT - Bl EdlEH
ARBRRAEBRRAE LHE -




The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
21 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 by the grantee. The exercise period for
the share options granted is determined by the Board, which
period may commence from the date of acceptance of the
offer for the grant of share options but shall end in any event
not later than 10 years from the date of the grant of the option
subject to the provisions for early termination under the Share
Option Scheme.

The subscription price for Shares under the Share Option
Scheme shall be a price determined by the Board, but shall not
be less than the highest of:

()  the closing price of Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of the
offer of the grant, which must be a business day;

(i)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer of
grant; and

(i) the nominal value of the Shares.

Since the Adoption Date and up to 31 December 2010,
60,000,000 share options has been granted by the Company,
representing 5% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of this annual report.
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DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN SHARE OPTIONS

Movements of the options, which were granted under the share
option scheme, during the year were listed below in accordance
with Rule 17.07 of the Listing Rules:

Name of Director
or his associate
Mr. Xu Yejun

Dr. Zhang Lanyin

Mr. Gu Aoxing

Ms. Gu Shuping
(Note 1)

i
RRARSR
REREE

5 i

(i

gLt
Wi1)

No. of share options
BRiEsA

EFERBREcED

REBRAET SR 2 BRERFAZE
BRE ETRAE17.07EZ2Hm T ¢

Date of Outstanding at
grant 7 June 2010
R22-2%

AAtA

BHAH AT

221112011 -

221112011 -

22/11/2011 -

22112011 -
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Granted
during
the year

FhEd

3,000,000

5,000,000

5,000,000

500,000

Exercised  Forfeited
during during
theyear  the year

FhiTE  EAEK

Cancelled
during
the year

FhizH

Lapsed
during
the year

FhEN

Outstanding at
31 December
2010
R22-2%
+ZA=t+-H
3

3,000,000

5,000,000

5,000,000

500,000

Exercise
price if

share options
| 14
iR

(Note 2)
(iz#2)

HKS

BT

1.408

1.408

1.408

1.408

Exercise
Period

fTEs
(Note 3)
(Hit3)

22/11/2011 to
21/11/2020
2120112
21/11/2020
221112011 to
21/11/2020
2/112011%
21/11/2020
221112011 to
21/11/2020
2/12011%
21/11/2020
22111/2011 to
2171172020
2120112
21/11/2020




Notes:

1. Ms. Guo Shuping is the wife of Mr. Xu Yejun, the chairman, the
chief executive officer and an executive Director of the Company
and hence an associate (as defined in the Listing Rules) of Mr. Xu
Yejun.

2. The closing price of the Shares immediately on before the date on
which the options were granted was HK$1.43.

3. The options granted under the Share Option Scheme have a
terms of ten years commencing from 20 November 2010 and
shall vest and become exercisable in three tranches in the
proportion of 30%, 60% and 100% on 22 November 2011, 22
November 2012 and 22 November 2013 respectively

Further details of share options were stipulated in note 27 to
the financial statements. Apart from the aforesaid, at no time
during the year ended 31 December 2010 was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors of the Company or any of their spouses or
children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in the Company or any other body
corporate.

Hiat -

1. BCERERARFERE - THRAHFRA
TEEGRERLEECLET  AURBREE
ZHBA EZR LETRED -

2. BHOREERLBREBHAI2UMER
1.43%87T °

3. RBERER BRI 2 ERE 2 B
—E-TE+—-A-t+RHEHAHTE
MR =—FT——F+—A=+=H - =%
——F+—AZ+ZARZET—=F+—
AZ+=H " 5 5li&30% - 60% K% 100%
2B > =HEERE KAl FATE o

BRREE - SHREM WKM7
5o Br B ESN  REBE-_T—FTF+—
A=1t—H L FEREMER - ARF)H
HAEIKIE R RSB SLE M B - B
ARREERREZRBIISHEATZF
TR FERB AR R R SEME PR 2D
s o
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EMPLOYEES’ INTEREST IN SHARE OPTION EERBEREAICES

SCHEME

Details of the options to subscribe for shares of the Company REIEHRN @ RIEERETZI A RERAA

under the Share Option Scheme for the period under review are IR 2 BRSBTS ¢

as follows:

No. of share options
LT L]

Outstanding ~ Granted Exercised Forfeited Cancelled  Lapsed Outstanding at Exercise
Date of at7 June during during during during during 31 December price if Exercise
Class of grantee ERABR grant 2010 theyear theyear theyear  theyear  the year 2010  share options Period

RI2-2% R22-2%

~AtH +ZA=t+-H Bz
BiHAM RATE  FARE  ERTE  FREE  FRES  ERRN RRITE R fegid
(Note 3) (Note 4)
(Hits) (Hiia)

HKS

V-
Directors (Nofe 1) (1) 2011 - 13,000,000 - - - - 13,000,000 1408 22111/2011
to 1/11/2020
221172011
£1/11/2020

Otheremployees  EMEE (#fF2) 22112011 - 47,000,000 - - - - 47000000 1408 22/11/2011

(Note 2) t0 21/11/2020
221172011
£21/11/2020

Notes: Htat -

1. Details of options granted to the Directors are set out in the 1. RYTEESBENREZFBINLELESES
paragraph headed “Directors’ Interest in Share Options” in the WERN[ESNEREZED] K-
Report of the Directors above.

2. Other employees include employees of the Group (other than 2. EHEMESEEREBEALBENERAOT
Directors) working under employment contract of the Group EZREBRE (BEEKBIN) r MERE
which are regarded as “continuous contract” for the purpose of BELFEBED (B EDEL7TE) #
the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong). WA [HEE4] -

3.  The closing price of the Shares immediately on before the date on 3. IRty BEixHEREE B 2 WmE
which the options were granted was HK$1.43. F1.4378TT

4. The options granted under the Share Option Scheme have a 4, RIZEA R SR B 2 BIRAE 2 A%

terms of ten years commencing from 20 November 2010 and
shall vest and become exercisable in three tranches in the
proportion of 30%, 60% and 100% on 22 November 2011, 22
November 2012 and 22 November 2013 respectively.
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RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE COMPANY’S SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed under the sections “Share Options”
and “Directors’ Interest in Shares” above, at no time during the
year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, or any of its
fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors or chief executives of the Company or their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) to have any right to
subscribe for securities of the Company or any of its associated
corporations as defined in the SFO or to acquire benefits
by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the
usual course of business are set out in note 31 to the financial
statements. None of these related party transactions constitutes
a discloseable connected transaction as defined under the
Listing Rules.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or the management shareholders of the
Company and their respective associates (as defined under the
Listing Rules) had any interest in a business which competes or
may compete with the business of the Group or has any other
conflict of interest with the Group during the year and up to the
date of this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on
a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance concerning the management
and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed during
the year.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees and senior management
of the Group is set up by the remuneration committee of
the Company on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the
remuneration committee of the Company, having regard
to market competitiveness, individual performance and
achievement.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an
incentive to Directors and eligible employees, details of the
scheme is set out in note 27 to the financial statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no material events after the reporting period which
would require disclosure to the financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are
set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” section of this
annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance with
the requirements as set out in the Listing Rules for the purposes
of reviewing and supervising the financial reporting process and
internal controls of the Group.

The Audit Committee currently comprises Mr. Tsui Siu Hang,
Steve(Chairman), Mr. Yao Enshu and Mr. Yang Fugiang.
The Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed with the
management and the external auditors financial reporting
matters including the annual results for the year ended 31
December 2010.
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AUDITOR

A resolution to re-appoint the retiring auditor, Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
19 May 2011 to 26 May 2011, both days inclusive. In order
to qualify for the proposed final dividend and for attending
the annual general meeting of the Company, all transfers
accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged
with the Company’s share registrars in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30
p.m. on 18 May 2011.

By order of the Board
Sinoref Holdings Limited
Xu Yejun

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2011
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Deloitte.

TO THE MEMBERS OF SINOREF HOLDINGS LIMITED
ERZEARAF

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Sinoref Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 53 to
119, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2010, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed
terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31
December 2010, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 March 2011
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Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Selling and distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Other expenses

Finance costs

Profit before taxation
Taxation

Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year attributable
to owners of the Company

Earnings per share
Basic (RMB)

Diluted (RMB)

WA
HERKAR

EF

H WA

HE K S
TTHRFAX
HAFX

BR B A4 A
IR

ZN/NCIEZ 2PN ]
FREMRFA
2HEBALE

BAN
X (ARE)

By (AR%E)

Notes

B E

11

12

16

2010 2009
—E—E5F —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#®TT ARBFIT
318,762 156,896
(100,782) (51,508)
217,980 105,388
813 72
(27,855) (13,109)
(19,671) (6,263)
(12,003) (2,000)
(265) (195)
158,999 83,893
(28,943) (13,817)
130,056 70,076
0.12 0.08

0.12 N/A T3
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Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Prepaid land lease payments

Deposit paid for acquisition of plant
and equipment

Current assets

Inventories

Trade receivables

Bills receivables

Other receivables, deposits
and prepayments

Prepaid land lease payments

Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities

Trade payables

Other payables and accruals
Discounted bills with recourse
Tax liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liability
Deferred tax liabilities

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity
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BEREM
A
1

HaRs

The consolidated financial statements on pages 53 to 119 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
29 March 2011 and are signed on its behalf by:

Xu Yejun
DIRECTOR
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2010 2009
—g-8F —TIAF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AEBTR =~ AR%T
57,536 45,344
10,331 10,566
3,930 =
71,797 55,910
15,273 8,604
96,593 46,490
30,579 12,625
516 141

235 235
315,554 65,500
458,750 133,595
15,248 1,602
29,453 16,028

- 9,012

4,912 4,995
49,613 31,637
409,137 101,958
480,934 157,868
10,937 4,291
469,997 153,577
104,201 47,041
365,796 106,536
469,997 153,577
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DIRECTOR
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At 1 January 2009

Profit for the year
representing total
comprehensive income
for the year

Transfer to statutory reserves

At 31 December 2009

Profit for the year
representing total
comprehensive income
for the year

Special reserve arising from
exchange of shares upon
Corporate Reorganisation

Issue of shares by
capitalisation of share
premium account

Issue of shares pursuant
to global offering

Expenses incurred in
connection with issue of
new shares

Recognition of equity settled
share-based payments

Transfer to statutory reserves

At 31 December 2010

R-TENE
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i)
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RABERRHR
Bz RES

A il
BBRRBRNEER
BREAMET
Rt
REZREERT
Kt
SLETHRD
MEA 2R

BEARAEE
Tctn RERAIER
BREATRE

Share
capital
B#
RMB’000
ARBTTT

47,041

Special
reserve
e
RMB’000
ARETT
(Note a)
(Pi3ta)

EEEE RS

ARBTT ARBTR

Retained
profits
FERT
RMB'000
ARBTT

32,595

70,076
(6,844)

47,041

(46,867)

77977

26,050

46,867

95,827

130,056

(15,879)

104,201

46,867

210,004
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Notes:

(@)

Special reserve represents the difference between the nominal
value of shares of the Company issued as consideration in
exchange for the aggregate of the paid-up capital of the
subsidiaries of the Company arising upon the corporate
reorganisation (the “Corporate Reorganisation”) (details are set
out in note 1) to rationalise the Group’s structure prior to listing
of the Company’s shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations of the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”), the PRC subsidiary is
required to provide for PRC statutory reserves, including
enterprise expansion fund and general reserve fund, by way of
appropriations from its statutory net profit (based on the PRC
statutory financial statements of the PRC subsidiary) but before
dividend distributions.

All appropriations to the funds are made at the discretion of the
PRC subsidiary’s board of directors. The board of directors of the
PRC subsidiary shall decide on the amounts to be appropriated
based on its profitability each year.

The enterprise expansion fund may be used to increase registered
capital subject to approval from the relevant PRC authorities. The
general reserves fund may be used to offset accumulated losses
or increase the registered capital subject to approval from the
relevant PRC authorities.

Sinoref Holdings Limited o ZE R AR A A

BB RERARBRNDETEBRER
SAERAR EMAIA T BRIEBAEEZR
BmETARNEA ((2AEA]D) (FF
BRMEE1) 20 - (ERRIRIE AR
MEHREMEITZ AR BB MDAEE -
HEARBMBRBARAERNERZH
HIZEEE o

REHEARKME ([HE]) BEED
FMER - —RHPBEMBERRAREEE
mAFEER (RIEZTEME AR 2 BEE
EMB|ME) R0 IR SRR L IR B E
SEFREERHE  BROEERES
R—HREEES -

BEeZADETHZTEMBARZ
EFEMBERE - TENBRRIZESR
SRRBEESFRNEDMRERT D
fo 2 508 -

CERERESARARIEMEMESR  H
AMGHBP R AR T AT E
B —REGESIRREBHERER
SIEANEE M AR AS - MR ERAS AR 8 B R
FIZHLER T AEE ©




Operating activities
Profit before taxation

Adjustments for:
Interest income
Interest expense
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments
Share-based payments expense

Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital

Increase in inventories

Increase in trade receivables

Increase in bills receivable

(Increase) decrease in other receivables,
deposits and prepayments

Increase in trade payables

Increase in other payables and accruals

Net cash generated from operations
PRC income tax paid

Net cash from operating activities

Investing activities
Interest received
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Deposit paid for acquisition of plant
and equipment

Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities

Interest paid

Proceeds from issue of new shares

Expenses paid in connection with the issue
of shares

Repayment of bank borrowings

(Repayment) additions of discounted bills
with recourse

Net cash from (used in) financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of the year
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Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year, ERB& RS EEY -

representing bank balances and cash

PARTTRESH MR SR

2010 2009
—2-2F —TTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARETTT
158,999 83,893
(551) (72)
265 195
4,962 4,591
235 235
1,895 -
165,805 88,842
(6,669) (2,471)
(50,103) (37,580)
(17,954) (4,735)
(375) 651
13,646 1,077
11,154 13,558
115,504 59,342
(22,380) (5,742)
93,124 53,600
551 72
(14,883) (1,604)
(3,930) —
(18,262) (1,532)
(265) (195)
197,981 -
(13,512) -
- (9,000)
(9,012) 2,622
175,192 (6,573)
250,054 45,495
65,500 20,005
315,554 65,500
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GROUP RESTRUCTURING AND BASIS
OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability on 4 February
2010 under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961,
as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The
shares of the Company have been listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited with effect from 7 July
2010. The addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the
section headed “Corporate Information” to the annual
report.

Pursuant to corporate reorganisation (the “Corporate
Reorganisation”) to rationalise the Group’s structure
in preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”), the Company became the holding company
of the Group by issuing shares of the Company to the
shareholders of Sinoref International Limited, the then
holding company of Sinoref (BVI) Limited and #ETf B
(BEH) mREABR AR (“Sinoref Yixing”) in exchange
for its entire equity interest in Sinoref (BVI) Limited from
Sinoref International Limited on 7 June 2010. Details of
the Corporate Reorganisation were set out in the section
headed “Group reorganisation” in the Appendix VI to the
prospectus of the Company dated 25 June 2010.
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GROUP RESTRUCTURING AND BASIS
OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

The Corporate Reorganisation completed on 7 June 2010
was regarded as a reorganisation of companies under
common control. Accordingly, the Group resulting from
the Corporate Reorganisation including the Company
and its subsidiaries is regarded as a continuing entity.
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows are prepared using
merger accounting as if the group structure immediately
after the Corporate Reorganisation had been in existence
throughout the years ended 31 December 2009 and
2010, or since the respective dates of incorporation/
establishment of the relevant entity, where this is a shorter
period. The consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2009 presents the assets and liabilities
of the companies comprising the Group which had been
incorporated/established as at 31 December 2009 as
if the group structure immediately after the Corporate
Reorganisation had been in existence on 31 December
20009.

The Company acts as an investment holding company.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in
note 33.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), which is the functional currency of the
Company.

KESEHRGSMBHERZ
ENEE (&)

ERZZT—ZTFNALHERNZA
ABEHAERASAREH AR ZE
e A RAIBEHEMEEZAS
B (BERARRRAEWMBAR) #H1E
REHEBELEER - KE2HEHK
Wk MEEREBRREEAES
REXRNDEREHESTERY K
MERE AR EAER 2 EEEBERE
E-TTNFN_T—TF+_-A
=t HLEEE—EHEFE XBE
MEESEMEMAS, B8
BABREEAE) BE—ERFL - R
—ETAFEF+_A=Z+—HZEHA
PBRARER=ZZEZNF+ A
=t+—HEaMKILRIZAEAE
EETERRAICEERARE  HW
EEAREHBZEBEBER T
TNE+ZA=+—HEEHFRE -

ARARB/—RREZEBR AR - HHK
BRA 2 EBEBENMIEESS ©

REMBHRRAARKZS - A
RERARRIZEEH -

Annual Report 2010 e —Z—ZFF#{

59




2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and revised Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKAS(s)”), Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRS(s)”), amendments and interpretations (“HK(IFRIC)
— Int”) (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “new and
revised HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).

HKFRS 2 Group Cash-settled Share-based
(Amendments) Payment Transactions

HKFRS 3 Business Combinations
(as revised in
2008)

HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
(as revised in Statements
2008)

HKAS 39 Eligible Hedged Items
(Amendments)

HKFRSs Improvements to HKFRSs issued in
(Amendments) 2009

HKFRSs Amendment to HKFRS 5 as part of
(Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs issued in

2008

HK(IFRIC) — Int 17  Distributions of Non-cash Assets to
Owners

HK - 1Int 5 Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) Business Combinations

The Group applies HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) “Business
Combinations” prospectively to business combinations
for which the acquisition date is on or after 1 January
2010. The requirements in HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008)
“Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” in
relation to accounting for changes in ownership interests
in a subsidiary after control is obtained and for loss of
control of a subsidiary are also applied prospectively by
the Group on or after 1 January 2010.

As there was no transaction during the current year in
which HKFRS 83 (as revised in 2008) and HKAS 27 (as
revised in 2008) are applicable, the application of HKFRS
3 (as revised in 2008), HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008) and
the consequential amendments to other HKFRSs had
no effect on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the current or prior accounting periods.

Results of the Group in future periods may be affected
by future transactions for which HKFRS 3 (as revised in
2008), HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008) and the consequential
amendments to the other HKFRSs are applicable.

The adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs had no
material effect on the results or financial position of the
Group for the current or prior accounting periods.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised standards, amendments or interpretations that
have been issued but are not yet effective.

HKFRSs Improvements to HKFRSs issued in
(Amendments) 2010°

HKFRS 1 Limited Exemption from Comparative
(Amendments) HKFRS 7 Disclosures for First-time

Adopters®

HKFRS 1 Severe Hyperinflation and Removal

(Amendments) of Fixed Dates for First-time
Adopters®

HKFRS 7 Disclosures — Transfers of Financial
(Amendments) Assets®

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments’

HKAS 12 Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying
(Amendments) Assets®

HKAS 24 Related Party Disclosures*
(as revised in
2009)

HKAS 32 Classification of Rights Issues?
(Amendments)

HK(IFRIC) — Int 14  Prepayments of a Minimum Funding
(Amendment) Requirement*

HK(IFRIC) — Int 19  Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with
Equity Instruments?®
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2010 and 1 January 2011, as appropriate.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February
2010.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2010.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2011.

d Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2011.

9 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2012.

’ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2013.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of these new and revised HKFRSs,
amendments or interpretations will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statement of the Group.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRS(s) issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis. Historical cost is generally
based on the fair value of the consideration given in
exchange for goods.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is
achieved where the Company has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain
benefits from its activities.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with those used by other members of the
Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and
expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value at the acquisition date, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or
assets related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee
Benefits” respectively;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment transactions of the acquiree or the
replacement of an acquiree’s share-based payment
transactions with share-based payment transactions
of the Group are measured in accordance with
HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” at the acquisition
date; and

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”
are measured in accordance with that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if
any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss
as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may
be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests
are measured at their fair value or another measurement
basis required by another standard.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Where the consideration the Group transfers in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value
and considered as part of the consideration transferred
in a business combination. Changes in the fair value of
the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with the
corresponding adjustments being made against goodwill
or gain on bargain purchase. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the measurement period about
facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition
date. Measurement period does not exceed one year from
the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value
of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as
measurement period adjustments depends on how
the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured
at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance
with HKAS 39, or HKAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets”, as appropriate, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss.
Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that
interest were disposed of.

Changes in the value of the previously held equity
interest recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity before the acquisition date are
reclassified to profit or loss when the Group obtains
control over the acquiree.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during
the measurement period (see above), or additional assets
or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information
obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as
of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected
the amounts recognised as of that date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Merger accounting

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements items of the combining entities in
which the common control combination occurs as if they
had been combined from the date when the combining
entities first came under the control of the controlling
party.

The net assets of the combining entities are consolidated
using the existing book values from the controlling
party’s perspective. No amount is recognised in respect
of goodwill or excess of acquirer’'s interest in the net
fair value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities over cost at the time of common
control combination, to the extent of the continuation of
the controlling party’s interest.

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income
includes the results of each of the combining entities from
the earliest date presented or since the date when the
combining entities first came under the common control,
where this is a shorter period, regardless of the date of
the common control combination.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial
statements are presented as if the entities had been
combined at the end of the previous reporting period or
when they first came under common control, whichever is
shorter.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable
for goods sold in the normal course of business, net of
sales tax.

Revenue from sales of goods are recognised when goods
are delivered and title has passed.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the amount of revenue can be measured
reliably. Interest income from a financial asset is accrued
on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to
that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purpose (other than construction in
progress) are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment other than
properties under construction less their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are classified as
construction in progress and are carried at cost, less any
recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional
fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.

Such properties are classified to the appropriate categories
of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on
the same basis as other property assets, commences
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified
as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of the
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased
asset are consumed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leasing (continued)
The Group as lessee (continued)

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter
into operating leases, such incentives are recognised
as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is
recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-
line basis, except where another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements,
the Group assesses the classification of each element
as a finance or an operating lease separately based on
the assessment as to whether substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of each element
have been transferred to the Group. Specifically, the
minimum lease payments (including any lump-sum upfront
payments) are allocated between the land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building
element of the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid land
lease payments” in the consolidated statement of financial
position and is amortised over the lease term on a
straight-line basis. When the lease payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the land and building elements,
the entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease
and accounted for as property, plant and equipment,
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases,
in which case the entire lease is classified as an operating
lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are re-translated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Retirement benefits costs

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary which operates
in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) are required
to participate in a central pension scheme operated by
the local municipal government. The PRC subsidiary is
required to contribute certain percentage of their payroll
costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to the profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme in Hong Kong. The Group contributes 5%
of relevant payroll costs or HK$12,000 (equivalent to
RMB10,000) per annum, whichever is lower, to the
scheme, which contribution is matched by employees.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income because
it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years, and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax base used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is recognised
in profit or loss, except when it relates to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted-
average method.

Impairment loss of tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. If
the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment loss is
recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities are added to or deducted from the
fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are loans and receivables.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition,
loans and receivables (including trade receivables, other
receivables, bills receivables and bank balances) are
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any identified impairment losses (see
accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets
below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment
at the end of the reporting period. Financial assets are
impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a
result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the financial assets, the estimated future
cash flows of the financial assets have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade
and bills receivables, assets that are assessed not to
be impaired individually are subsequently assessed for
impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of
impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include
the Group’s past experience of collecting payments,
observable changes in national or local economic
conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when
there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade and bills receivables, where the carrying
amount is reduced through the use of an allowance
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance
account are recognised in profit or loss. When a receivable
is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would
have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified according to the substance
of the contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade payables, other
payables, amounts due to shareholders and discounted
bills with recourse are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial
assets are transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial assets.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and
the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in
its entirety (e.g. when the Group retains an option to
repurchase part of a transferred asset or retains a residual
interest that does not result in the retention of substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership and the Group
retains control), the Group allocates the previous carrying
amount of the financial asset between the part it continues
to recognise under continuing involvement, and the part it
no longer recognises on the basis of the relative fair values
of those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference
between the carrying amount allocated to the part that is
no longer recognised and the sum of the consideration
received for the part no longer recognised and any
cumulative gain or loss allocated to it that had been
recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised
in profit or loss. A cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised in other comprehensive income is allocated
between the part that continues to be recognised and
the part that is no longer recognised on the basis of the
relative fair values of those parts.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Derecognition (continued)

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

For share options granted to directors and employees
of the Company and its subsidiaries, the fair value of
services received determined by reference to the fair value
of share options granted at the grant date is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates
during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to share option
reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share options reserve will
be transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in
share options reserve will be transferred to retained profits.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the directors of the
Company has made various estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

In applying the accounting policy on property, plant and
equipment with respect to depreciation, management
estimates the useful lives of various categories of
property, plant and equipment according to the industrial
experiences over the usage of property, plant and
equipment and also by reference to the relevant industrial
norm. If the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment is less than the original estimate useful
lives due to changes in commercial and technological
environment, such difference will impact the depreciation
charge for the remaining period.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Estimated allowances for inventories

The management estimates the net realisable value of
inventories based primarily on the latest market prices
and current market conditions. The Group carries out an
inventory review at the end of each reporting period and
makes allowance on obsolete and slow moving items to
write off or write down inventories to their net realisable
values. Where the expectation on the net realisable value
is lower than the carrying amount, an impairment may
arise. At 31 December 2010, the carrying amount of
inventories is RMB15,273,000 (2009: RMB8,604,000).

Estimated impairment of trade receivables

When there is objective evidence of impairment loss,
the Group takes into consideration the estimation of
future cash flows. The amount of the impairment loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been
incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition). Where the actual future
cash flows are less than expected, a material impairment
loss may arise. At 31 December 2010, the carrying
amount of trade receivables is RMB96,593,000 (2009:
RMB46,490,000).
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the entities
in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior yeatr.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes discounted bills with recourse as disclosed in
note 21 and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising share capital, reserves and retained profits.

The management of the Group reviews the capital
structure on a continuous basis taking into account the
cost of capital and the risk associated with the capital.
The Group will balance its overall capital structure through
payment of dividend, issuance of new shares as well as
the raising of new debts, if necessary.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets SMEE
Loans and receivables (including

cash and cash equivalents)
Financial liabilities SMER
Amortised cost BN
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
trade receivables, other receivables, bills receivables,
bank balances, trade payables, other payables and
discounted bills with recourse.

Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risk associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (currency
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The polices on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

Certain transactions of the Group are denominated in
Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”) which are other than the
functional currency of the relevant group entity (i.e.
RMB), which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk. The Group does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management monitors
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)
Currency risk (continued)
The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency

denominated financial assets and liabilities at the end
of the reporting period is as follows:

6. &Rl

(b)

Assets
gE
2010 2009
—Z2-ZF —ZTTNHF
RMB’000 RMB’000
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HKD BT 87,099 -
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(%)

R (&)

B mER (&)

AEERBHRYPRAINEHE
ZEMEEREBAGENT

Liabilities
RiR
2010 2009
—2-BF _—TThHF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRE  ARETT
76 =

The financial asset subject to foreign currency risk
represents the bank balances denominated in HKD
held by the subsidiaries of the Company in Hong
Kong.
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a
5% appreciation or depreciation of the HKD against
RMB. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment
of the possible change in foreign exchange rate.
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting
period for a 5% change in foreign currency rate. A
positive number indicates an increase in profit where
HKD strengthens 5% against the RMB. For a 5%
weakening of HKD against RMB, there would be an
equal and opposite impact.

HKD BT

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange

risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the
exposure during the year.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk

At 31 December 2009, the Group was exposed to
fair value interest rate risk in relation to the fixed-
rate discounted bills with recourse. The Group’s
exposure to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to bank balances at the end of the reporting period
is considered as insignificant. The Group does not
have an interest rate hedging policy. However, the
management monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure
should the need arise.

Credit risk

At 31 December 2010, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial
loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties provided by the
Group is arising from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position. The
Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with
creditworthy counterparties, as a means of mitigating
the risk of financial loss from defaults.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings.
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

At 31 December 2010, the Group has concentration
of credit risk as 13% (2009: 10%) and 41% (2009:
47%) of the total trade receivables was due from
the Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively. In order to minimise the
concentration risk, the management of the Group
has delegated staff responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of each of individual
trade debt regularly to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amount. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. The table includes both interest
and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest
payments are at variable rate, the undiscounted
amount is derived from interest rate curve at the end
of the reporting period.

6.

&MT AR (#)

(b)

TREREEZENOREE
(#&)

=RER (&)

RZE—FTF+A=1+—
H BRESEKREBELE
13% (ZZEZNF 10%) &k
MNB(ZEZENF 1 47%) &
MRBAEE 2 HZAEFP KA
ABEP  BRAEBEBEEFREF
ERkK - AREFRBRRAER
K AEBZEEEEZIKE
TEEETCEERE FE8F
HEREAEITERT - AREIRA]
FERRETE W E @ ARER -
BN - REEFEHENEER
FEWFRIE 2 AU Bl 58 - LATE
RELT AU E S BB1E T 78 2 R
BEEB -BREmME - AAAE
ERAAEEZEFEERBEX
B FEAR o

REEL AR

RERERDECRRME - A
SEERMEREEERRR
HENARERG RS R
EEFEEYWKF - AERERE
MEREBHTE -

TERB/AKREZHNTESHE
BEHRTANIRBZFE - T
KBBEAREAXNEHMARE
ZERFEMEAZAURRES
MEBMRE - ZRBEMERA
TREM - FIRFHH XN
MEBZBERT » REEBREERTY
e MR Z M R AR HEH o
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6.

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Weighted
average On demand
effective or less than
interest rate 3 months

&MT AR (#)

(b) =EEMEEREZBENREE
(%)

BB ZERE (&)
Total

undiscounted
3 months  cash flows

miEEy BREXER to 1 year KR Total
ERfIE DR3ER SEREIE RenesE @t
% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETRT ARETR ARETT
As at 31 December RZE-2F§
2010 +=B=+—-H
Trade payables 2 SN FA - 10,548 4,700 15,248 15,248
Other payables HioEARE - 3,413 - 3,413 3,413
13,961 4,700 18,661 18,661
As at 31 December RIESNE
2009 +=-A=+-H
Trade payables EUY = 1,602 = 1,602 1,602
Other payables HAER 508 = 433 = 433 433
Discounted bills i R RS
with recourse HEE 2.81 6,451 2,561 9,012 9,012
8,486 2,561 11,047 11,047

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities is
subject to change if changes in variable interest rate
differ to those estimates of interest rates determined
at the end of the reporting period.
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(c) Fair values

The fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash
flow analysis using prices or rates from observable
current market transactions as input.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.

REVENUE

Revenue represents the net amounts received and
receivable for goods sold less returns and discounts in the
normal course of business.

OPERATING SEGMENTS

HKFRS 8 “Operating segments” requires operating
segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports
about components of the Group that are regularly
reviewed by the chief operating decision maker (the board
of directors) in order to allocate resources to segments
and to assess their performance.

The Group’s operating activities are attributable to a
single operating segment focusing on the manufacture
and sale of advanced steel flow control products. This
operating segment has been identified on the basis of
internal management reports prepared in accordance with
accounting policies which conform to HKFRSs, that are
regularly reviewed by the board of directors. The board
of directors monitors the revenue from manufacture and
sale of advanced steel flow control products for the
purpose of making decisions about resource allocation
and performance assessment. However, other than
revenue analysis, no operating results and other discrete
financial information is available for the resource allocation
and performance assessment. The board of directors
reviews the profit for the year of the Group as a whole for
performance assessment. No analysis of segment assets
or segment liabilities is presented as they are not regularly
provided to the board of directors.

6.

&MT AR (#)

() 2AFE

TREERERABELAFE
ARE Al R R T 5 X S H) (BT
HERERBABIRREIER
BERDTA—RARBZEE
BAEE -

EER/REEMBHRRAMU
BHKARBZEREENS
REBEECEEEREAFER

e

Eo
A

WA —RABEBPZHER
mE R EREER  BRERE
KA

EESE

EEMBEREEAFESRE [EE N
BB Bk - RERAEE o BE AR (A
MEBZAME2 RO BIERERE
RZERMERAO BN EPRHETES
BRRE (BEFg) B0 AHES
THETERD B R FETE -

1=

AEEZREEHBRNETRER
HERWIKERERZE—KZ
DEB o WMREDMIERTAER
MR ELER 2 @A BERARSH 2
NEBERBRSMBA  YHEES
ERT  EETQERKXRBRER
HERmERKERERZEA - A
ERDEER KRR EELRE -
AR BRRADITSN - ARG R
AR EMEENEER A HAE
BERAERKRBFE EFSHAN
SEFRGEAIEBER - AETT
REFE - AREZTSUEETH
RESMEERS AR B
B2 D HEERD BB ©
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OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

Information about products

The revenue of the major products is analysed as follows:

Manufacture and sale of advanced B3 K7 S5 E =
steel flow control products: Em:

Subentry Nozzle RARKO

Stopper EiE

Tundish Nozzle ek

Ladle Shroud &KA

Information about geographical areas

As all the Group’s revenue is derived from customers
based in the PRC and all the Group’s identifiable assets
and liabilities are located in the PRC, no geographical
segment information is presented.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers for both years contributing over
10% of the total revenue of the Group are as follows:

Customer A BEFEA
Customer B XFB
Customer C EFC
* The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of

the total revenue of the Group.
Four types of products were sold to customers A and B

while only Stopper, Tundish Nozzle and Subentry Nozzle
were sold to customer C.
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8.

H KR

EESE (|

ERREH

EBESUASFMT :
2010 2009
—g-E —TTAF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ~ AR%TR
156,552 69,026
84,920 45,700
59,889 32,992
17,401 9,178
318,762 156,896

HEEH

HRARERBERAGRERFTE
VYRMEP BEMAAEET AR
MEERBEHUNGTE  REZ
SIlE D RRE R -

FEEZEFER

R F E A AN E B R A10% A £

ZHRERPZRANT
2010 2009
—E—T5F —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT ARBETIT
35,806 N/A*N i
N/A*FiE > 19,261
N/A*FiE > 17,688

- BRARABEAREEBRATER
10% °

NEBBEFPARBIEMWMEE R
MEFESERE - AEER/KOKEA
KA FEFC -




10.

11.

OTHER EXPENSES

The amounts represent professional fees and other
expenses related to the listing of shares of the
Company. Pursuant to HKAS 32 “Financial Instruments:
Presentation”, the transaction costs of an equity
transaction are accounted for as a deduction from equity
to the extent they are directly attributable to the issuing
of new shares. The remaining costs are recognised as
expenses when incurred.

FINANCE COSTS

The amounts represent the interests on bank borrowing
and discounted bills with recourse wholly repayable within
five years. The bank borrowing was fully repaid in January
2009.

TAXATION

Current tax: BIHARR IE -
PRC Enterprise Income Tax F B TS H

Deferred tax (note 25):
Current year

RER

Provision for the PRC Enterprise Income Tax was made
based on the estimated taxable profits calculated in
accordance with the relevant income tax laws and
regulations applicable to the Group’s PRC subsidiary.

10.

11.

EIEFETE (FzE25)

HfthpASZ

ZEBREARARTRND LHZE
XERAREMAX - RIEBE G
ZRERRIe/MIA : 25 &
KRB 2R HUAAETHRNE
ERENORARER  EFERE 2
AR o 8 NI E A I HERR R
Fx °

MERE

ERESEEEANDIFATHREEL
RITEERMERBRBRZEZF
B RITEEER-_TZNF—H

EHEE -

RIR
2010 2009
—e-%%| —TINE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTE | ARMTR
22,297 10,737
6,646 3,080
28,943 13,817

B 1b R AT 1S B T AR B (i Bt B RR B
wmAMEERARAEE BB
BIZBRREPUANARTE -
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11.

TAXATION (continued)

On 16 March 2007, the PRC promulgated the Law of the
PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “New EIT Law”) by
Order No. 63 of the President of the PRC. On 6 December
2007, the State Council of the PRC issued Implementation
Regulations of the New EIT Law (the “Implementation
Regulations”). The New EIT Law and the Implementation
Regulations unify the Enterprise Income Tax rate for
domestic and foreign enterprises at 25% from 1 January
2008.

In accordance with the relevant income tax law as
applicable to the PRC subsidiary of the Company, it was
entitled to the exemption from the PRC Enterprise Income
Tax for the first two years commencing from the first
profit-making year after offsetting all unexpired tax losses
from previous years, and thereafter to a 50% reduction for
the next three years. 2007 was the first profit-making year
for the Group’s PRC subsidiary. As a result, the Group’s
PRC subsidiary was subject to the PRC Enterprise Income
Tax rate of 12.5% for both years presented.

According to a joint circular of the Ministry of Finance
and State Administration of Taxation — Cai Shui 2008 No.
1, dividend distributed out of the profits of PRC entities
generated after 1 January 2008 shall be subject to PRC
Enterprise Income Tax which is withheld by the PRC
entity. During the year ended 31 December 2010, deferred
tax expense of RMB6,646,000 (2009: RMB3,080,000)
charged on the undistributed earnings of the Group’s
PRC subsidiary has been recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.
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ANA - FEEBERER T (PEAR
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BRARRIIMEBANCEMSH
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BREMGHRE  ARRTENB L
AR EEREMEBEFREZR
[ERTIEBREK A A EERNFEE
EMERRTECEMSH IR
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11. TAXATION (continued)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the
profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income as follows:

Profit before taxation

Tax at the PRC Enterprise Income Tax
rate of 25% (2009: 25%)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible
for tax purpose

Tax effect attributable to tax exemptions
and concessions granted to the PRC
subsidiary

Deferred tax on undistributed earnings
of the PRC subsidiary

Taxation for the year

11. RIE (&)

B 51 BT g A

=BRSSBT E25%
ZZETNF 1 25%) &t

B RIE

TRAIBFAZ 2 B
=%

A1 BB A mR
Z IR R R E RS
ZHEEE

B B A Rl AR 0 IR & A
ZIRERIR

FABE

FARBAXhEGEEEEERZ
BRBi BB AEIRAT

2010 2009
—E—Z5F —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBET T
158,999 83,893
39,750 20,973
4,844 500
(22,297) (10,736)
6,646 3,080
28,943 13,817
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12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit for the year has been arrived
at after charging (crediting):

Auditor’s remuneration

Cost of inventories recognised
as an expense

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Amortisation of prepaid land
lease payments

Minimum lease payments in respect of

office premises

Exchange loss

Bank interest income

Staff costs (including directors’
emoluments)
— Salaries and other benefits
— Contributions to retirement

benefits scheme

— Share-based payments
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12. FREF

Frm &R (FTA)
THIEBRZER

ZE AN &
RRAZZTFE
[B%N

ME - BEREE
e

TEf + A &R IE
B

ERAMAEYHE 2 &K
MEFIE

b 5 E518

RITHEHA

BINAN (BEES
<)

— e REMET

— RRE A2
T/TA

— ARt AERERTEK

2010 2009
—e-BE —TINF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARBFIT
806 10
100,200 51,339
4,962 4,591

235 235

178 -

2,213 -

(551) (72)
30,722 15,315
509 339

1,895 -
33,126 15,654




The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors

were as follows:

For the year ended
31 December 2010:

Executive directors:
Xu Yejun
Zhang Lanyin
Gu Aoxing

Non-executive director:
Gao Zhilong

Independent non-executive
directors:
Yao Enshu
Yang Fugiang
Cheng Yun Ming (resigned on
19 November 2010)

Tsui Siu Hang, Steve
(appointed on
19 November 2010)

13. DIRECTORS EMOLUMENTS

BE"S-S%12A
=+-HLFE:

HITES
RER
KRR
BT

FBITEE

BLIFBIT

13. EFMH&

ENENTEESZMEMT :

Fees
ne
RMB’000

AEBFE

250
250
100

52

52

52

40

12

Salaries and contributions

Total
At
RMB’000

AR®TR

529
803
270

52

52

52

40

12

808

1,810
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For the year ended
31 December 2009:

Executive directors:
Xu Yejun
Zhang Lanyin
Gu Aoxing

Non-executive director:
Gao Zhilong

Independent non-executive
directors:
Yao Enshu
Yang Fugiang
Cheng Yun Ming

13. DIRECTORS EMOLUMENTS (continued) 13.

EFEM& (]|)
Share-based
payment
performance
Retirement related
benefit incentive
scheme payments
Salaries and  contributions XA
Fees allowances RIER  ZUBRH A Total
e Fek=EH AT ERERNT Ch
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  AR%TT ARt ARt ARBTR
BE_ZTAETCR
=+-HLEE:
HTES:
BEE - 198 3 - 201
RER - 500 - - 500
BT - 62 3 - 65
FHITES
BE - - - - -
BT
8%
k@5 - - - - -
BER = = - - -
et - - - - -
- 760 6 - 766

None of the directors waived any emoluments for both

years.
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14. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, three (2009: two) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in note

13 above. The emoluments of the remaining two (2009:

three) individuals were as follows:

Salaries and allowances
Contributions to retirement
benefits scheme
Share-based payment performance
related incentive payments

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

Below HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000

14. EEM&

rEERARSFALTESR =
H(ZZEENF WME) BRARTA
EX HMeo N EXHMEI13F®
B-#fTME (ZZETAF: =8)

ATZBeanT -
2010 2009
—E—E5F —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARET T
e RoER 1,451 452
RIREFIFTE
R 13 31
BRIVAAE 2 LARR (D B
E R SRR K 253 =
1,717 483
WEZBEN TLATEE :
2010 2009
—E—ZF —EENF
No. of No. of
employee employee
EEAM BEAH
1,000,000/ 7T A~ 1 3
1,000,0018 702
1,500,000/ 7T 1 =
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15.

16.

DIVIDENDS

15.

The final dividend of HKB3.6 cents (equivalent to RMB3.1
cents) in respect of the year ended 31 December 2010 per
share has been proposed by the directors and is subject

to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming annual

general meeting.

No dividend has been paid or declared by Sinoref Yixing

during the year ended 31 December 2009.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

16.

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share

attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the

following data:

Earnings

Earnings for the purposes of basic and
diluted earnings per share attributable
to the owners of the Company

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of basic and
diluted earnings per share
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SETEARRRER ARE
FREAR N EE R
£/ & F

B8 E

AT EESRER R EE
EFPER 2 L@
INHEF 8

Bz 2

EZgCERRNEBE_Z—TF
TZA=t—RALEFEZREPR
B EE3.68 Ml (1HFERN ARKSI.
) BERRRERBRAFAE
EHUER T AIEE -

EMEERRBEZE _FTTNAF+ A
=t RALEFEIERNYRE KR

B o

o

wmikEF

ARG AR (S G IR R
BRI TR T BUREH8 -

2010 2009
—S-8F —TTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AER®TRE  ARBTR
130,056 70,076
Number Number
of shares of shares
;208 4= & E
2010 2009
—B-BF _—TTNF
’000 ’000

TR TFh%
1,046,301 900,000




16. EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

The number of shares for the purpose of basic earnings
per share has been determined on the basis that
the ordinary shares of the Company issued upon the
Corporate Reorganisation have been in issue on 1 January
2009 and 898,000,000 ordinary shares issued pursuant
to the capitalisation issue completed on 7 July 2010 as
disclosed in note 26 have been adjusted retrospectively.

The computation of diluted earnings per share does not
assume the exercise of the Company’s options because
the exercise price of the share options was higher than
the average price of the shares of the Company for the
period during the date of granting the share options to
31 December 2010. No diluted earnings per share has
been presented for in prior year as there was no potential
shares outstanding during the prior year.

16. SREF (&)

FIfEET SR EARRF 2 A (5 B H
BRRARARNEEETZAADNY
BRR-TTAF—A—AQEE
7 U RAREH 2R HER —F
—TFLALARRZARLET
Fir %17 2 898,000,000 4% & 38 f% i 5T
M WEEHBE -

HRARRBEREZITEESRA
RABHREEERERRE T
—EFET_A=1+—HHRAZ¥H
B FEitstESREER ML
BERRXARBEHREETE - AR
BEFEYEALBEEE N 2D ET
B Bt EABEFEEIE
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

CosT
At 1 January 2009
Additions

At 31 December 2009

Additions

At 31 December 2010

DEPRECIATION
At 1 January 2009
Provided for the year

At 31 December 2009

Provided for the year

At 31 December 2010

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2010

At 31 December 2009

17. Y% - BERERE
Furniture Plant,
and fixtures  machinery
Leasehold  and office and
Construction improvement  equipment  equipment Motor
inprogress  Buildings 8 KARKER WE @&  vehicles Total
ERIR BF  BRRE  BOZRE Rl AE it
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'OC0O  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT ARETE ARETR AREfT ARETT  ARETR
723
R-EENE-A-A - 19,265 - 899 36,307 1,296 57,767
HE - 214 - I 358 178 881
R-ZENE
“A=t-H - 19,539 - 970 36,665 1,474 58,648
RE 8913 250 159 9% 1,461 6,273 17,154
R-E-TE
T-A=+-H 8,913 19,789 159 1,068 38,126 1,747 75,802
it
RZZENE-A-R - 1,682 - 288 6,419 3% 8,713
ERE - 908 - 168 3,279 236 4,591
RZEENE
+-A=1-H - 2,590 - 456 9,698 560 13,304
ENERE - 930 14 181 3,318 524 4,962
RZE-FF
TZA=+-H - 3,520 14 637 13,011 1,084 18,266
BEE
R-E-ZF
TZA=+-H 8,913 16,269 145 431 25,115 6,663 57,536
R=ZENE
“F=1-H - 16,949 - 514 26,967 914 45,344
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17.

18.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17.
(continued)
The above items of property, plant and equipment except
for construction in progress are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives and after taking
into account of their estimated residual value, at the
following rates per annum:
Buildings 4.5% - 18%
Leasehold improvements ~ 20% or over the lease term,
whichever is shorter

Furniture and fixtures and  18%

office equipment
Plant, machinery and 9%

equipment
Motor vehicles 18%
The buildings are situated on land in the PRC and are held
under medium term leases.
PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 18.
The Group’s prepaid lease payments represent leasehold
land in the PRC under medium term leases and are
amortised to consolidated statement of comprehensive
income over the lease term of 50 years from January
2006.
Analysed for reporting purposes as: mEEMS oM T :
Non-current asset ERBEE
Current asset MENE E

At 31 December 2009, the Group has pledged its
leasehold land with a carrying value of RMB10,801,000 to
secure general banking facility granted by a bank to the
Group which has been expired in December 2010.

Wk EEREMm (W)

Ltk - BB k&m (ERITRR
5N R EAEREE BE MG RIS
BEEATIERATREMGE A

FRAFHFENE

gF 4.5% — 18%

HEWEREE  20%HIRHEE -
A& A%

FREARKER 18%

YN

E - #esk 9%

B

B 18%

BFUNFEAN - REHHED
A -

Rt L EBERIR

AEBEBMNHEHEFRBELRHEIL
REFHEASAECHEL - ©
—EERF-ARRHMOFNEE
HRNEFE2EKERPH#H

2010 2009
—E2-Z5 —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARETTT
10,331 10,566
235 235
10,566 10,801

R—_BEZAF+_A=+—8"
AEBCEREREEAARE
10,801,000t 2 HH & L - LAELR
AEBE-—ERITRTZ —MIRT
BME MEZBMEER_ZT—ZF+
—RAE® e
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19.

20.

INVENTORIES

Raw materials BER R
Work-in-progress g Uetr
Finished goods IR

TRADE RECEIVABLES

The credit period granted by the Group to certain
customers is within 90 days, while other customers are
due immediately when goods are delivered. The following
is an aged analysis of trade receivables presented based
on the goods delivery date at the end of the reporting
period.

0 - 30 days 0230H
31 - 60 days 31£260H
61 — 90 days 61£290H
91 — 120 days 91F120H
Over 120 days 1208 A £

At 31 December 2010, included in the Group’s trade
receivable balances are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of RMB88,222,000 (2009: RMB38,358,000),
which are past due as at the end of the reporting period
for which the Group has not provided for impairment
loss. The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

Sinoref Holdings Limited » 2R BRA 7

19. 8

2010 2009
-5 —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARWFT ARMET T
8,289 3,447
3,861 2,345
3,123 2,812
15,273 8,604
20. EHEIRIA

AEERETEPRHIZEERS
QBN MEMTFAERKEE
fn B BIEE 9 38 AT AR B AR
REERXMNAEHZEI2EZRK
SRR DA

2010 2009
—Z—-ZF —TTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTIT
18,196 16,500
26,502 21,895
21,219 7,995
18,278 100
12,398 -
96,593 46,490

R-EBE—FTE+-_FA=+—0H" &
SECESRERRBLERBEERR
4 F 5 A R #88,222,0000T (=&
T hF : AKR#¥38,358,0000T) Z
EWEE - HRPRARE @M%
REEWKREL RERBBEE - A%
B Rt E AR A AR o




20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not
impaired:

0 — 30 days 0&30H
31 - 60 days 31£260H
61 — 90 days 61290H
91 - 120 days 91&120H
Over 120 days 1208 A £

The Group has not provided for the trade receivables
which are past due but not impaired because the directors
of the Company consider that those receivables are
recoverable based on the good payment record of the
customers. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these balances.

In determining the recoverability of the trade receivables,
the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the
trade receivables from the date credit was initially granted
up to the end of the reporting period. In addition, the
Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual
trade receivable at the end of the reporting period and
considers to make impairment losses for irrecoverable
amount, if necessary.

All the trade receivables are denominated in RMB.

. BHEIRIF (§)

EmEERREZE S EIRFIEZ
BRERUDT ¢

2010 2009
—e-B% | -—TThE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AEBFRE  ARETT
14,348 13,676
23,644 17,536
19,554 7,046
18,278 100
12,398 -
88,222 38,358

AEEYERCBAERBREZE
SENGRIBEEL B - TTHRAR
AEERBEPZRFERLER
R ERWGRR TIRE - AEE
I LU F SRS B TR RS o

REEESRYFAZAIKD#S
B AREEeERmRVIRHEER
EREEHFHPRZE HE WA
EEERZEMEL - I AE
ERXERRARENEE SR KR
AlESE YRFEEE RN
A Bl & R AE R E R IR R

B E S RBFBEAAREE -
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21.

BILLS RECEIVABLES/DISCOUNTED BILLS
WITH RECOURSE

The aged analysis of bills receivable at the end of the
reporting period are analysed as follows:

Within 90 days 90HA
91 — 120 days 91%120H
121 — 180 days 1212180H

At 31 December 2010, the carrying value of bills
receivables include endorsed bills for which the
maturity dates have not yet been due amounted to
RMB11,023,000 (2009: nil) continue to be recognised as
assets in the consolidated financial statements. There are
no bills discounted with recourse as at 31 December 2010
(2009: RMB9,012,000). As the Group still exposed to
credit risk on these receivables at the end of the reporting
period, the cash received from discounted bills and the
bills endorsed to the suppliers for which the maturity dates
have not yet been due are recognised as current liabilities
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

All the bills receivables and discounted bills with recourse
are denominated in RMB.
At 31 December 2009, the discounted bills with recourse

carried interest at an average rate of 2.81% per annum.

The maturity dates of endorsed bills and discounted bills
with recourse were less than six months from the end of
the reporting period.
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21. BRE ERERAR
®

REBRER - B RERE D0
T

2010 2009
—Z—2F —ETTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREETT
21,568 9,864
6,097 2,261
2,914 500
30,579 12,625

R-_ZE—ZTFE+_-_F=+—H &
WEEREBELEINSHA MRS
KA EERKARM11,023000
T(ZETNGF : &) BERKRE
MBERERTEERREE -N=F
—ZTF+ A=+ B ERER
EHRZRE(ZTETNFE: AR
9,012,0007T) ° A A &£ B R 3R
MARDBEUHERKFIEEHEER
e At BRERERAEERE
M EIE R # R EE A B E R B
B2 B e RN RE P BARR RS #ER
RTBBE -

ERKZELIERERARE
BUAARBHE -

R-ZE—ZEF+-_RA=+—8"
BB REMIEZEIZFHF RN E
2.81%+t A -

EERBMMEREURERAH
HEREFT 2 BHBHPRAEA -




22,

23.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

At 31 December 2010, bank balances carried interest
at an average interest rate of 0.29% (2009: 0.36%) per
annum.

TRADE PAYABLES

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables
presented based on the goods receipt date at the end of
the reporting period.

0 - 30 days 0£30H

31 - 60 days 31£260H
61 — 90 days 61290H
Over 90 days 90H M E

The credit period granted by the suppliers to the Group is
within 30 days.

At 31 December 2010, included in the trade payables was
RMB11,023,000 (2009: nil) that was endorsed bills settled
to suppliers for which the maturity dates have not yet
been due.

The carrying amounts of the trade payables at the end of
the reporting period are denominated in RMB.

22,

23.

BITHEREES

R-Z-T&+-A=+—0 R
(THth Y THERIE B0.20% (=T
TAE 1 0.36%) ¢

BHEMAREA

AT RE S ENFRIBR B RARRE
BEBERB M2 2RI o

2010 2009
—g-8F —TTAF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR =~ ARNT
10,041 1,426
2,876 40
2,029 59

302 77
15,248 1,602

HEARANEER L ZEEHR30
BA -

RZTE—ZTF+-_A=+—H8" 8
SEMFIEEIEAR A & R E
WRHEREECEEZRARY
11,023,0007C (ZZZTNF « &) o

REHRMR - BZEMNFAZEE
BEAAREE -
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24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

25.

Other payables

Payables for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment

Accrued sales commission

Accrued professional fees

Accrued staff costs

Other tax payables

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

At 1 January 2009
Charge for the year

At 31 December 2009
Charge for the year

At 31 December 2010

Sinoref Holdings Limited » 2R BRA 7

24. AfiFEFIRAREHEH

2010 2009

—ZE-ZF ZETNF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TTT ARETIT

Hofh e 5RIE 1,050 341
W - B RERME

Z FERTFRIE 2,363 92

JEFTEEE RS 16,756 6,450

EETEXER 760 2,000

fEET B Tk A 1,470 1,201

H eI IE 7,054 5,944

29,453 16,028

25. REREARAR

R-ZETAF—HA—B

FAXH

RZEZENF+-_A=+—H

FAXH

R-ZE—Z2F+-_H=1+—8

Undistributed
earnings

of the PRC
subsidiary
hEMBATRZ
RO EEF
RMB’000
AR¥ETTT

1,211
3,080

4,291
6,646

10,937




26. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised:

At 4 February 2010
(date of incorporation)
Increase in authorised share capital

At 31 December 2010

Issued:

Allotted and issued nil-paid on
4 February 2010

Issue of shares upon completion of
the Corporate Reorganisation
on 7 June 2010
Issue of shares by capitalisation of
the share premium account
Issue of shares pursuant to
global offering

At 31 December 2010

Shown in the consolidated

financial statements
At 31 December 2010

ERE

R-Z—ZF - AH
(FEMAk Sz B EA)
SR TERR AN N

i
_|_

%7::
=

A

[ O

F
+-8
BRI

RZE—ZTF=AWMA
BB KRBT 2R
&)

RZE—TFX ALA
SERKA B B EETT
&%)

BRASRG = ERET
B EITRRD

BB IREEEIT
B&1n

26. %

Number of

shares at

HK$0.10

per share
SEARmE{EO0.10 Amount
Bz E &8
Notes 000 HK$’000
Bt =E T A% FHIT
(@) 1,000 100
(b) 2,999,000 299,900
3,000,000 300,000
(a) 1,000 100
(c) 1,000 100
(d) 898,000 89,800
(e) 300,000 30,000
1,200,000 120,000

RMB’000 equivalent 104,201
AR®TEHEE
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26. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

The following changes in the share capital of the Company
took place during the period from 4 February 2010 (date
of incorporation) to 31 December 2010.

(@)

The Company was incorporated on 4 February 2010
with an authorised share capital of HK$100,000
divided into 1,000,000 shares of HK$0.10 each, of
which 1,000,000 ordinary shares with a par value
of HK$0.10 each were allotted and issued nil paid
by the Company to its then sole shareholder on the
same date.

On 7 June 2010, the authorised share capital of
the Company was increased from HK$100,000 to
HK$300,000,000 by the creation of the additional
2,999,000,000 new shares of HK$0.10 each. These
new shares rank pari passu in all respects with the
existing shares.

Pursuant to a share purchase agreement dated
7 June 2010 and entered into by, among other
parties, Sinoref International Limited (the then
holding company of the Company) as vendor and
the Company as purchaser for the acquisition of the
entire issued share capital of Sinoref (BVI) Limited,
being two shares of US$1.00 each, in consideration
of and in exchange for which the Company (i)
credited as fully paid at par the 1,000,000 nil-paid
shares then held by the shareholders of Sinoref
International Limited; and (i) allotted and issued,
at the direction of Sinoref International Limited,
1,000,000 shares credited as fully paid to the
shareholders of Sinoref International Limited in
proportion to their respective shareholdings in Sinoref
International Limited.
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26. Br& (#8)

R-ZE—ZF - AMNA (s zH
M) E-_T—FF+_-_A=1+—HH
M ADRABRALRU TR -

(@)

ARAIRZ_ZE—TF AN
B EERAER
100,000 7T * 9 A&1,000,000
R% 5 A% E (0. 108 7o Z % 1D
H #1,000,0000% & & ® &
010 T2 E AR R B BA
N EVARBARAS 75 = 1) & T M
— IR B R T o

RZZE—ZTFAtH AR
7] # 3%2,999,000,000/% & i
EECI10B T 2 R 7+
& T B AR 100,000/ it =
300,000,000 Tt ° #% & 51 %
NESHTEHERERNZER

FHAT

BIREMBEEER AR (KRR
RERZERAR) EAE
F)BEARR (ERBER) B
—ZE—TFXNAtHFINZE
f% #5 3% - AN A 7 Y BESinoref
(BVI) LimitedZ & 2 #& 17 IX
N (BN R G AR E{E1.003% 7T
ZBRm) MEARERRBR
& - AR R E R B Em
BEEBRARRRAFEE Z
1,000,0008% & # i% 15 = T B
ABRF AR + K(i)i8 IR 2E i
BEIRAERAR 2T RE
MERERAFAKRES AR
EMBEBRERQR ZREL
Bl M ERR AL R AT
1,000,000 A B& %I & #5122
f&5 o




26. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(d)

Pursuant to the written resolutions passed by all
shareholders of the Company dated 7 June 2010,
the directors of the Company were authorised to
capitalise an amount of HK$89,800,000 standing
to the credit of the share premium account of the
Company by applying such sum in paying up in full
at par 898,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10
each of the Company for allotment and issue to
the shareholders of the Company on the register of
members of the Company on 7 June 2010 on a pro-
rata basis, conditional on the share premium account
being credited as a result of the issue of shares by
the Company pursuant to the global offering.

On 7 July 2010, 300,000,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.10 each of the Company were issued at a
price of HK$0.76 by way of global offering. On the
same date, the Company’s shares were listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The proceeds
of HK$30,000,000 (equivalent to RMB26,050,000)
representing the par value of the shares of the
Company, were credited to the Company’s share
capital. The remaining proceeds of HK$198,000,000
(equivalent to RMB171,931,000), before issuing
expenses, were credited to share premium account.

The share capital at 1 January 2009 and 31 December
2009 as shown in the consolidated statement of financial

position represented the fully paid registered capital of
Sinoref Yixing, the PRC subsidiary of the Company.

26. Br& (#8)

(d)

=)
)

BEARAZERER_-Z
—EFXAtARBZE®A
RRE - AR RIEZERER
RRARRG BEERTR ZER
89,800,000/% 7t % 7t & 7~ -
PRAZSHERAEHRRARAR
898,000,000% & % M {60.10
BT B - LURE Bl R R
ZZE—ZEFXNAEHBIAR
AR R &2 AR R AR B Rk B
17 MEARARATREEIRE
BRITRHERDSEERRG
HEERFAIEE o

RZE—ZFELAtH ' &
NAIFEMBEREE  1R0.76
7 7T 2 {8 #% % 7300,000,000
% & A% T (H0.10/8 Jt < N R
AlE@EKRe RAB - ANAA
BN ERET - K
RARARIRMEBEZFER
1830,000,000% 7T (#HE 1N A
R #26,050,0007T) B i AKX
RAIZIRA - 82T T8 IB
198,000,000/ 7t (48 & 1 A
B #171.931,0007T) (k 40 B
BIRY) B ARMDEER

MBMRRKATIR _FENF

—A—BERZZEZANF+_A=+
—BZBEA - BREARQRZHBEH
BAREMEE BB EMER -
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27. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”),
was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 7 June
2010 for the primary purpose of providing incentives to
directors and eligible employees, and will expire on 6
June 2020. Under the Scheme, the Board of Directors of
the Company may grant options to eligible employees,
including directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, to
subscribe for shares in the Company.

At 31 December 2010, the number of shares in respect of
which options had been granted and remained outstanding
under the Scheme was 60,000,000, representing 5% of
the shares of the Company in issue at that date. The total
number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.
The number of shares issued and to be issued in respect
of which options granted and may be granted to any
individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.
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27. DR SERFATREZH ()

ARABBER-_Z—FFALH
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ElD - EEEHNRAEEREE
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27. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 27. LRI BEBBEFRNRE S (18)

(continued)
Options granted must be taken up within 21 days from the EREREATANE S BEEST
date of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per option. Options QIEARBHERBREME
may be exercised at any time from 1 year from the date of TC o AR - BBRET R
grant of the share option to the 10 anniversary of the date HERERHSHEEE Y A EREt
of grant. The exercise price is determined by the directors WmTRAEEH IFTEMEBERITE - 17
of the Company, and will not be less than the higher of FEEARAREEETE  MIA2K
(i) the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date RUT&REE : ()ARBRMAKRE
of grant, (i) the average closing price of the shares for BHZWHE ()RR FRMAE
the five business days immediately preceding the date of EREYBHAIAESEH 2 FHK
grant; and (i) the nominal value of the Company’s share. miE : KA RRRMHEE -
Balance
Balance at at at
1.1.2010 Granted  Exercised  31.12.2010
Exercise WZZ-Bf during during RIB-BE
Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period price -A-H the year the year +=B=+-H
FHAM REY fHEs fTEE &R Ehit Rt &S
22 November 2010 22 November 2010 to 22 November 2011 to HK$1.408 - 18,000,000 - 18,000,000
ZE-FFt-A=fZA 21 November 2011 21 Noverber 2020 140877
SE-RET-ACtIRE CR-Ft-ActoRE
Z3—54-At-R ZEZEET-ACT-H
22 November 2010 22 November 2010 to 22 November 2012 to HK$1.408 - 18,000,000 - 18,000,000
SE-BEF-F-+B 21 November 2012 21 November 2020 140837
Z2-3F+-A-tZAZ F-—f+-A-fzA2
ZE-CEP-ACt-B ZECBRET-ACt-A
22 November 2010 22 November 2010 to 22 November 2013 to HK$1.408 - 24,000,000 - 24,000,000
ZE-FFt-AZfZH 21 November 2013 21 November 2020 1.408%7
ZE-RET-A-TIRE ZE-ZET-AZTIREE
ZB-CE-ACt-R 0 ZEBCEET-ACt-H
- 60,000,000 - 60,000,000
Exercisable at the end
of the year
ARERKTT(E =
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27. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2010, options were
granted on 22 November 2010. The estimated fair values
of the options granted on that date is HK$36,660,000
(equivalent to RMB31,603,000).

The fair values were calculated using the Binomial model.
The inputs into the model were as follows:

Closing share price at the date of grant HK$1.40
Exercise price HK$1.408
Expected volatility 61%
Expected life 10 years
Risk-free rate 2.55%
Expected dividend yield 3.3%

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous
years. The expected life used in the model has been
adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the
effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioural considerations.

The Group recognised the total expense of RMB1,895,000
for the year ended 31 December 2010 in relation to share
options granted by the Company.

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair
value of the options. The variables and assumptions
used in computing the fair value of the share options are
based on the directors’ best estimate. The value of an
option varies with different variables of certain subjective
assumptions.
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27.

LI BERARER (])

RBE_Z-—ZTF+-_A=+—8H
EFE BRER-ZE—TF+—
AZ+ZBEE - IREBERER
& B 245 A F {8 /536,660,000
7T (FEM ARK31,603,0007T) °

RFEDRB-BAEAGFE - [
ZRABANBBIAT -

RELBEZBOKHE 1.4087T

TEE 1.4087 7T
TEHAR B 61%
T HA 4 B 104F
2 B B 1) 2 2.55%
TEEAAR B & 3.3%

BAREEAAR TR RB
TEREZELRETET  #3
AR 2 BT e REEEE
IR TR RITBE S
B % 2 BB A F ) B A T
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28. OPERATING LEASES 28.

29.

At 31 December 2010, the Group had commitment for
minimum lease payment under non-cancellable operating
leases which fall due as follows:

Within one year —FNRN
In the second to fifth year F_FEFERF
inclusive (BEEEMSE)

The commitments represent rentals payable by the Group
for its office in Hong Kong with the lease period of two
years.

Monthly rental was fixed and recognised over the terms of
the leases.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 29.

Contracted for but not provided for BRI AVERIELRE BT
in the consolidated financial statements MR EE

— Capital expenditure in respect of — B AEEIRE
construction of new production plant -V N5

— Capital expenditure in respect of — BARIERE ks
acquisition of plant and machinery - N5

EEHR

RZB-—FTE+_A=+—0" &
EERBETUHBEEEEEEUT
REBEMNR 2 AE - HIHBER

I
2010 2009
—E—T5F —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREET T
698 -
465 -
1,163 -

RZEREREAKEREHSMEL

EEMAERNZER

FAMRS IR EHANEE R#ER -

BEKIE
2010 2009
—2—-25F —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARWTR AR¥TTT
5,072 -
35,720 -
40,792 -
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30. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary established
in the PRC are members of state-managed retirement
benefits scheme operated by the PRC government. The
subsidiary is required to contribute a specific percentage
of its payroll costs to the retirement benefits scheme. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefits scheme is to make the specified contributions.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme in Hong Kong. The Group contributes 5%
of relevant payroll costs or HK$12,000 (equivalent to
RMB10,345) per annum, whichever is lower, to the
scheme, which contribution is matched by employees.

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group

made contributions to the retirement benefit schemes of
RMB509,000 (2009: RMB339,000).

Sinoref Holdings Limited * 2R BRA 7

30.

iRt & F 5T 2
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BARTEBMEF ERERR
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ERAZIETE B D L A% R K T
FEMER - REBEHRZFRKE
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31.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

At 31 December 2010, included in other payables is the
amounts due to shareholders of RMB696,000 (2009: nil).
The amounts are unsecured, interest free and repayable
on demand.

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management for both years was as follows:

Short-term benefits K HEAtE A

Contributions to retirement RIKEFIGT S
benefits scheme HR

Share-based payments PARR 1 BB A 3K

The remuneration of directors and key executives is
determined by the remuneration committee having regard
to the performance of individuals and market trends.

31. REFXS

RNR-ZB—ZTFE+_A=+—H  H
ftb FE 1< 3K IE B ¥ FE A5 AR R B9 RRIB
A R %696,0007C (Z T T N F -
M) c ZATBAEER - R ERAR

FZREFEE -

TEEEABHH
EFRAMEBERERARME
FEZHHT
2010 2009
—g-®% —TTAF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FE ~ ARETR
3,344 1,272
35 41
1,169 =
4,548 1,313

EERTERTRABRZME T % B
ZEES2EMARERTSBEM

BT -
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32. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE

COMPANY

Non-current asset
Investment in a subsidiary

Current assets
Amount due from a subsidiary
Bank balances

Current liabilities
Other payables and accruals

Total assets less current liabilities

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity

Sinoref Holdings Limited * 2R BRA 7

32. FAFIZHMBERH

FRBEE
RIBRARZERE

mEEE

& W B 18 2 B R IR
RITHEER

mERAR
Hip I K e E A

RERERTDAR

BER G
[N
G

HaRn

RMB’000
ARETT

174

172,075
61,400

233,475

1,475

232,174

104,201
127,973

232,174




COMPANY

Name of subsidiary

HELRER

Sinoref (BVI) Limited

Sinoref (Hong Kong)
Limited
EfR (BE) BRRA

Sinoref Yixing"
i E 8

All of the subsidiaries are indirectly wholly owned by the
Company except for Sinoref (BVI) Limited which is directly

33. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment
1 o As:]
RB#

The British Virgin
Islands
12 January 2010
EBERTES
—F-FF-A+=A

Hong Kong
17 February 2010
5
—Z-TF_A++H

The PRC
20 July 2005

HE
“ETRFEA-tA

wholly owned by the Company.

i Wholly foreign owned enterprise registered in the PRC. #

Issued and

fully paid

share capital/
registered capital

Equity interest
attributable to
the Company

FOFEE ERETRERE
BEES BE EHEF
100% Ordinary US$2
TRFoETT

100% Ordinary HK$1
TR

100% RMB151,716,600

AR#151,716,60070

33. FLAFIMBLFFHTE

Principal activities

FERE

Investment holding
REER

Investment holding

AR

Manufacture and sale
of advanced steel
flow control products

SERHEERHMK

BEREmM

FrENBARAARRHEE2EHE
% - HESinoref (BVI) Limited8l & 74

NEEER2EHESR -

RABEMZINEBERE -
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Results of the Group for the year ended December 31

FREBE+T_A=+—HILFEZER

2007 2008 2009 2010
—ETHFE ZETN\FE ETHFE B—EF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
AREBFIT ARETRT AREFT AR®BTRT
Turnover - 40,006 67,206 156,896 318,762
Profit and total NANEHEE AFE(S
comprehensive income F R R FR
for the year attributable to 2 E U A 4858
owners of the Company 13,405 24,971 70,076 130,056
Earnings per share BARAF)
(RMB) (AREE)
- Basic - AR 0.01 0.03 0.08 0.12
— Diluted - N/ATE A N/ATiE A N/AZN i F 0.12
Assets and liabilities of the Group at December 31
BWt+=-—A=1+—HZzEERE&R
2007 2008 2009 2010
T E  —TTN\F —ETHhE ZEB—BF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
AREBFT AR®TFrT AREFTT AR®BTT
Total assets BESE 88,770 103,820 189,505 530,547
Less: Total liabilities W BERE (37,094) (20,319) (35,928) (60,550)
Total net assets BEEFE 51,676 83,501 153,577 469,997

120

Sinoref Holdings Limited o ZE R AR A A




-1
SINOREF

EMZERBRLT
SINOREF HOLDINGS LIMITED



	Cover

	Contents
	Corporate Information
	Chairman’s Statement
	Management Discussion and Analysis
	Market Review

	Business Review

	Financial Review


	Corporate Governance Report
	Directors and Senior Management
	Report of the Directors
	Independent Auditor’s Report
	Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
	Summary of Results, Assets and Liabilities
	Back Cover


